#### THERAPISTS' BELIEFS AND ATTITUDES TOWARDS CLIENT DECEPTION

# A DISSERTATION SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY IN THE GRADUATE SCHOOL OF THE TEXAS WOMAN'S UNIVERSITY

## DEPARTMENT OF PSYCHOLOGY AND PHILOSOPHY COLLEGE OF ARTS AND SCIENCES

BY

DREW A. CURTIS, M.A.

DENTON, TEXAS

AUGUST 2013

### TEXAS WOMAN'S UNIVERSITY DENTON, TEXAS

May 8, 2012

To the Dean of the Graduate School:

I am submitting herewith a dissertation written by Drew A. Curtis entitled "Therapists' Beliefs and Attitudes Towards Client Deception." I have examined this dissertation for form and content and recommend that it be accepted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy with a major in Counseling Psychology.

Jenelle C. Fitch, Ph.D., Major Professor

We have read this dissertation and recommend its acceptance:

Department Chair

Accepted:

Dean of the Graduate School

#### DEDICATION

God for His loving grace and mercy.

To my wonderful, loving, and supportive family: Rachel, Lydia, and Isaiah.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank many individuals who have contributed to my dissertation. Tremendous gratitude is extended to Dr. Jenelle Fitch. Thank you for serving as my dissertation chair. I have been privileged to learn so much from you throughout graduate school. I am very thankful for your compassion. Your support in my life has meant so much and I will always be thankful for your kind acts and open heart. You truly are a great mentor.

I would like to thank committee members for their diligent efforts. I am thankful to Dr. Hart for his support, mentorship, and inspiration. Thank you for your continued investment in my development. I am honored to have worked with you, as you have been a significant role model in my life. Thank you for your willingness to engage in research banter or philosophical rants. I would like to thank Dr. Stabb for her dedication to my personal and professional growth. I have learned many things from you throughout the years at TWU, within and outside of the classroom. I will always be grateful for the sensitivity and sympathy that you displayed. Also, thank you for helping me with the initial decision-making for my dissertation topic. I would also like to thank Dr. Asbury for his contributions in my development. Thank you for your humor and occasional check-ins. I have always been very appreciative for your openness to help and moments of humor.

I would also like to thank Dr. Miller, Dr. Scott, Glenda Peters, and Karen Hoenig for their unending support of my studies and dissertation. You have all been incredible to work with and I am thankful for the opportunity to be a part of the departmental team.

I would like to thank fellow students whom have journeyed with me through my doctoral studies. Thank you to Laura Cowan, Sonia Carrizales, Luke Belsky, Leslie Kelley, and Stacey Smith. I am excited that we shared many doctoral memories together.

A special thanks to my parents and family for their love and encouragement. To Kathy and Steve Quebedeaux, Louis and Lana Curtis, I thank you for your love and being wonderful parents. I thank my caring siblings: Shelly Huckaby, Louis Curtis, and Anthoney Quebedeaux. You all have uniquely motivated me. To my new family, Dr. Mason Lawrence, Dr. Carol Lawrence, David Lawrence, Mark Lawrence, Paul Lawrence, and George and Marjorie Biggs, thank you all for welcoming me into your family. You all have been loving and supportive throughout this process.

I would like to thank my amazing children: Lydia Grace and Isaiah Drew. I love you both dearly. Lydia, you brought boundless happiness. Your life on earth will never have been long enough. I look forward to seeing you again, my sweet daughter. Isaiah, you have supplied my life with much joy and our house with countless nights of energy. I look forward to being a father who no longer works on a dissertation but rather spends time with you.

Most importantly, I want to thank my wonderful, loving, beautiful, and encouraging wife, Rachel Curtis. I am truly blessed to have you in my life, as my wife, and as the mother of our children. Your continued support throughout graduate school and writing this dissertation has not gone unnoticed. You are loved beyond words. Your heart is always filled with love and kindness. You have filled my life with abundant happiness and meaning and always help keep my seeking Him. I look forward to spending the rest of our days with each other and without any more dissertation writing.

#### ABSTRACT

#### DREW A. CURTIS

## THERAPISTS' BELIEFS AND ATTITUDES TOWARDS CLIENT DECEPTION AUGUST 2013

The current study investigated therapists' beliefs about indicators of deception and attitudes towards client deception. Participants were recruited from various APA accredited internship sites. Participants completed a Demographics Questionnaire, the Detection of Deception Questionnaire, and the Therapist Attitudes Towards Deception Scale. The questionnaires were used to assess therapists' beliefs and attitudes towards client deception. The results indicated that therapists possess many inaccurate beliefs about indicators of deception. Therapists held the most accurate beliefs about paraverbal indicators of deception compared to nonverbal and verbal indicators. Therapists also held a number of negative attitudes towards client deception. There was not a statistically significant relationship between therapists' attitudes and their worldviews. Further implications of therapists' beliefs and attitudes towards deception are discussed.

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
DEDICATION	iii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iv
ABSTRACT	vii
TABLE OF CONTENTS	viii
LIST OF TABLES	xív
Chapter	
I INTRODUCTION	1
Origins and Definitions of Deception	2
The Shades of a Lie	4
Deception in Therapy	6
Therapy Defined	7
Overview of Study	9
II LITERATURE REVIEW	11
Reasons People Lie	11
Self-Oriented and Other-Oriented Lies	12
Lying Peeed on Emotions	13

Lying as a Learned Response	
Experiences When Lying	
Individual Differences	
Social and Cultural Influences	
Detecting Deception21	
Nonverbal Behavior Indicators of Deception	
Verbal and Paraverbal Indicators of Deception	
Accuracy	
Professional lie detectors	
Accuracy of detection	
Beliefs	
Deceit and Therapy30	
Accuracy of Therapists31	
Detection in Assessments	
Therapists Who were Duped	
Reasons for Client Deceit	
Client deceit and theoretical orientation	

Deceit and the Therapeutic Relationship	39
Consequences of Deception in Therapy	39
Dangers for clients in telling lies	40
Dangers for therapists in being duped	42
Therapists' Training in Deception	44
Fear of Incompetence	46
Therapists' Truth Bias	47
Therapist Role	48
Therapist Beliefs and Confidence	49
Attitudes towards Deception	51
Personal Values	52
Professional Values	52
Importance of Deception in Therapy	54
Purpose of the Study	56
Relevance to the Field of Counseling Psychology	57
Research Questions and Hypotheses	59
III METHOD	61

Participants	61
Demographics	61
Instrumentation	66
Demographics Questionnaire	66
Detection of Deception Questionnaire	67
Therapist Attitudes Towards Deception Scale	68
Procedure	70
Hypotheses and Statistical Design	72
Research Questions and Hypotheses	72
IV RESULTS	76
Preliminary Analyses	76
Analyses of Hypotheses	77
Research Questions and Hypotheses	77
Exploratory Analyses	83
V DISCUSSION	86
Discussion of Findings	86
Research Ouestions and Hypotheses	86

Exploratory Analyses	92
Strengths of the Study	97
Limitations and Future Research Directions,	97
Implications for Research	99
Implications for Training	100
Implications for Practice	103
Implications for Theory	107
Conclusions	108
REFERENCES	110
Appendices	
A Demographic Questionnaire	127
B Detection of Deception Questionnaire	132
C Therapist Attitudes Towards Deception Scale	
D Email Request	146
E Informed Consent	148

#### LIST OF TABLES

Table	Pa	age
I	Nonverbal Indicators of Deception	
2	Verbal and Paraverbal Indicators of Deception25	
3	Sex of the Participants62	
4	Gender of the Participants	
5	Race/Ethnicity of the Participants62	
6	Highest Degree Earned63	
7	Training Program63	
8	Licenses Held	
9	Current Therapy Work Setting	
10	Theoretical Orientation	
11	Therapists' Worldviews	
12	Therapist Training and Experience with Deception	
13	Internal Consistencies of TATDS70	
14	Therapists' Beliefs About Lying-related Changes in Behavior Compared to a "No Change" Rating of 4.0	
15	Therapists' Attitudes in Discovering a Client's Lie (Specific Attitudes Scale)	
16	Therapists' Attitudes Towards Clients who Lie in Therapy (Global Attitudes Scale)	
17	Therapist Ratings for Value and Importance of Honesty in Therapy84	

#### CHAPTER I

#### INTRODUCTION

Everyone lies! This phrase is often quoted by the popular, arrogant, and highly intellectual television character, Dr. Gregory House (Mitchell & Singer, 2004). An initial response in reading the phrase may elicit dissonance or unease. Claiming that everyone lies may lead to a realization that you lie or others lie to you. People often judge typical interactions with others as honest and truthful (Bond & DePaulo, 2006) and most social interactions consist of more truthful statements than deceptive ones (Vrij, 2000). Thus, hearing that everyone lies elicits strong reactions because it is contrary to how people perceive the world (Vrij, 2008). Believing that most people are honest and most social interactions involve telling the truth may lead people to become susceptible prey of deceitful people. People may also believe that most interactions are honest because they do not want to entertain the possibility that they were victims of deceit (Ekman, 1996; Vrij, 2000, 2008). Ignorance of the truth may be preferred to dealing with the consequences of a truth. Yet, deception plays a crucial role within social dynamics. When asked to consider how often a person lies, people indicate that they probably lie on average, about two times a day (DePaulo & Bell, 1996; DePaulo & Kashy, 1998; Kashy & DePaulo, 1996, Vrij, 2000) to a variety of people, including significant others, spouses, and even therapists (DePaulo, 2009; Kottler & Carlson, 2011). Overall, most people are often successful with their deceit.

#### Origins and Definitions of Deception

Throughout time and culture, deception has been recorded and people have tried to make sense of deceit. The origins of deception, for followers of the Bible, traces back to the book of *Genesis*, when the serpent lied to Eve (Genesis 3:1, English Standard Version). The book of *Genesis* illustrates the introduction of deceit and views it as sinful and leading to the fall of humankind. On the other hand, in Greek mythology, Hermes earned his status among the gods by deceiving Apollo and through telling Zeus what he wanted to hear (Graves, 1955). Stories involving Hermes as a deceiver or trickster demonstrated how the use of deception can be used for personal gains. Alternatively, the Hindu god, Krishna, deceives in order to bring about a higher moral purpose (Leeming, 1990). Even children's fables have been known to impart morals regarding topics such as deceit. For example, the moral of Aesop's *The Boy Who Cried Wolf* is simply that one should not lie (Aesop, 1793). Deceit is a concept that has been seen throughout time and a variety of definitions have been proposed by various theorists and researchers.

Communication is laden with many dynamics and reaching a consensus of honest communication can be difficult at the least. Thus, defining lying or deceptive behavior comes with the difficult task of accurately honing in on the components of a lie. Various definitions of dishonesty, lies, and deceit have been proposed and modified to achieve an accurate explanation of deception.

Burgoon and Buller (1994) defined deception as "a deliberate act perpetrated by a sender to engender in a receiver beliefs contrary to what the sender believes is true to put

the receiver at a disadvantage" (pp. 155-156). The proposed definition encompasses the interpersonal dynamics between a sender and receiver of a message. Also, the definition addresses the intentionality of deception. Some communication that is misleading unintentionally would not be considered deceptive. For example, a person who provided another with faulty directions due to a lapse in memory would not be considered a liar. The definition of deception addresses subjective versus objective truth by stating that the message is contrary to what the sender believes is true. Thus, deception is based on the intent of the sender, in that the sender is intentionally trying to convey a falsehood based on what the sender believes to be false. A drawback of the proposed definition is that it claimed that deception would place the receiver at a disadvantage. Some lies are told for the sake of others (DePaulo, Kashy, Kirkendol, Wyer, & Epstein, 1996) or to protect the receiver's feelings (Ekman, 2009). Another limitation of the definition is that it does not discuss forewarning of the sender. Some people may warn others about their intentions, which would not be considered deception. Actors convey false impressions and statements to an audience but the audience is forewarned that they will be deceived about these events.

Another definition offered by Ekman (2009) identified deception as "one person intends to mislead another, doing so deliberately, without prior notification of this purpose, and without having been explicitly asked to do so by the target" (p. 28). The definition speaks to the deliberate nature of deception and also the hidden intent to mislead the target. Although Ekman's definition of deception encompasses most of the

components of deceit, it does not include the outcome of the lie, as argued by Vrij (2000, 2008).

Consequently, Vrij (2000, 2008) comprehensively discussed various definitions of deception, weaknesses within each definition, and proposed an alternative definition. He defined deception as "a successful or unsuccessful deliberate attempt, without forewarning, to create in another a belief which the communicator considers to be untrue" (Vrij, 2008, p. 15). This definition speaks to the deliberate nature of deceit, hidden intentions from the target of deceit, and the variability of consequences from attempts (i.e., successful or not). Vrij's (2000) definition is active in nature as it specifically addresses human deception rather than passive encompassing deception of non-human species. Because of the comprehensive nature of this definition, it has been widely used in recent research (e.g., Granhag & Strömwall, 2004; Hart, Filmore, & Griffith, 2009). As a result, the current study will utilize Vrij's definition of deception in order to account for the various aforementioned components that formulate a lie. Furthermore, this term will be used interchangeably with lies, which is a practice found among other authors (e.g., DePaulo et al., 2003; Hart et al., 2009; Hartwig & Bond, 2011; Vrij, 2000).

#### The Shades of a Lie

Having a working definition allows a strong foundation for what qualifies as deception but there are still many communicative nuances that fit the definition's framework. Many lies can and are told on a daily basis (DePaulo et al., 1996; DePaulo &

Kashy, 1998), and those lies take a variety of forms: outright lies, exaggerations, and subtle lies (DePaulo et al.; Vrij, 2000).

Outright lies are purposeful and explicit lies (DePaulo et al., 1996; Vrij, 2000). An outright lie is a falsehood that is intended to be completely different from or as far removed from the truth as possible. For example, telling a teacher that you were not talking during class when, in fact you were, would be an outright lie. Furthermore, such lies do not necessarily need to have evidence against the truth. For example, a teenager who smokes cigarettes and has never smelled of smoke around his parents could lie to his parents by telling them that he does not smoke. Overall, most lies told, about 67% for college students and 59% for community members, are outright lies (DePaulo et al., 1996).

Another type of lie, an exaggeration, is seen as overstating the facts or creating an impression beyond the truth (DePaulo et al., 1996; DePaulo & Kashy, 1998). About 14% of college students and 9% of community members reported telling exaggerations (DePaulo et al., 1996). As opposed to the outright lie, some truth may exist with an exaggeration. For example, a person may exaggerate their feelings of sympathy for another person's pain.

The third type of a lie is a subtle lie. Subtle lies are described as omitting relevant details and telling literal truths with the intent to mislead another person (DePaulo et al., 1996; DePaulo & Kashy, 1998). These types of lies may be sometimes referred to as lies of omission. About 8% of college students and 23% of community members reported

telling subtle lies (DePaulo et al., 1996). A form of subtle lies may be found in an example of infidelity where a person is asked by a significant other if he or she is cheating. The deceiver replies that he or she loves his or her significant other. The deceiver told a literal truth about loving his or her significant other and was able to avoid directly answering the question about cheating. Thus, the deceiver intentionally omitted information about infidelity.

#### **Deception in Therapy**

One of the more popular examples of deception in psychotherapy involved the staff from 12 hospitals who were unknowingly being deceived by eight pseudopatients, feigning symptoms of hearing voices (Rosenhan, 1973). The experimenter utilized psuedopatient deception to gain information about the reliability of mental health professionals as well as examine the effects that labels may have on individuals within psychiatric facilities. Though the primary purpose of Rosenhan's study was not in examining deception or its detection, it brings forth the issue that clients may enter therapy and lie. Clients enter therapy and decide what they want to reveal. In the process of sharing information, clients may deceive through purposefully omitting information, altering details of a narrative, or even outright falsifying statements.

Because much of the deception literature suggests that people lie within everyday situations (DePaulo et al., 1996), then it is reasonable to consider that deception may be involved within therapy. Given that therapists have been shown to have higher rates of accuracy in detecting deception (Ekman, O'Sullivan, & Frank, 1999), then it is important

to look at the beliefs and confidence that therapist hold in detecting deception. Currently, there has been little research investigating deception as a variable of interest in therapy.

#### Therapy Defined

Similarly to deception, many contributors have sought to define therapy. There are about as many definitions of therapy as there are of psychotherapy theories. Many theorists define therapy in terms related to their theories, worldviews, experiences, and philosophies. Thus, defining therapy can be a daunting task. Prochaska and Norcross (2010) claimed, "no single definition of psychotherapy has won universal acceptance" (p.3). However, some authors have sought to evaluate multiple theories of psychotherapy and define these therapies by their common thread or by a definition that can be broadly applicable and accepted among a majority of these various theories. In Corsini and Wedding's (2005) writings on various psychotherapies, they propose a definition for therapy. Due to the difficulty of the task to establish an all-encompassing definition, the authors cautioned that the definition may not be completely inclusive. However, the current study will define therapy in terms of Corsini and Wedding's definition. The authors defined therapy as:

Psychotherapy is a formal process of interaction between two parties, each party usually consisting of one person but with the possibility that there may be two or more people in each party, for the purpose of amelioration of distress in one of the two parties relative to any or all of the following areas of disability or malfunction: cognitive function (disorders of thinking), affective functions

(suffering or emotional discomforts), or behavioral functions (inadequacy of behavior), with the therapist having some theory of personality's origins, development, maintenance, and change along with some method of treatment logically related to the theory and professional and legal approval to act as a therapist. (p. 1)

This working definition is strong because it addresses the nature of therapy involving a relationship between at least two parties. Furthermore, the purpose of therapy is geared towards helping the client with the distress. The proposed definition accounts for the purpose of therapy to relieve or eliminate the client's distress.

Some authors report that there are distinctions between therapy and counseling (Corsini &Wedding, 2005). The primary difference noted involves the length of therapy. Counseling has been understood as being shorter in length, one to five sessions, and psychotherapy has been traditionally viewed as long-term, up to many years of therapy (Corsini & Wedding, 2005). For the purposes of the current study therapy, psychotherapy, and counseling will be used interchangeably.

A therapist will be defined as any person who practices therapy. For the purposes of this study, therapists will include persons practicing therapy with a license and non-licensed graduate students who practice under the rights of their institutional program.

Terms that may be used interchangeably with therapist will be counselor, practitioner, mental health provider, and psychotherapist.

#### Overview of Study

Given the increasing number of articles and writings that are examining deception within an array of scholarly disciplines (e.g., Burgoon, & Buller, 1994), forensic settings (e.g., Vrij, Granhag, & Mann, 2010), across cultures (Global Deception Research Team, 2006), and the general public (e.g., DePaulo, 2009) it is imperative to extend upon the current research base. Understanding that deceit occurs within a variety of social contexts, and given that the therapeutic context involves frequent exchanges in communication between client and therapist, it is important to examine deception within therapy. To date, limited research has investigated deception within the therapeutic context (e.g., Briggs, 1992, Langer, 2010; Sitton & Griffin, 1981).

There are numerous reasons to explore deception within therapy. First, the literature on deception and therapy is limited. Second, it is important to investigate deception in therapy because therapy is a relationship, and the research (e.g., DePaulo & Kashy, 1998) has demonstrated that people lie within the context of relationships. Third, therapists are usually not trained to explicitly deal with deception in therapy; therefore, research implications could enhance training models. Fourth, therapists may hold accurate beliefs about indicators deception and place a confidence in their abilities to detect deceit. Lastly, therapists may have attitudes towards deception and its detection within therapy, which may impact therapeutic effectiveness.

The current study has added to the current literature base by investigating therapists' accuracy and attitudes towards deception in therapy. Through this research, a

greater understanding of how deception impacts the therapeutic relationship has been attained and provides direction on how to address the concept in this context.

#### CHAPTER II

#### LITERATURE REVIEW

The fields of social psychology, forensic psychology, and communications have been the forerunners in researching deception. The bulk of deception studies have examined its detection. Recently, attention to the importance of deception detection has increased (see Vrij, 2008). The application of deception and detection literature can reap benefits for forensic contexts, social relationships, dating relationships, workplace interviews and relationships, or even everyday interactions.

In this chapter, the reasons that people lie are discussed. Next, the experiences of liars, theories of understanding lies, individual differences, social and cultural influences of lies are examined. Thirdly, exploring methods used to detect deception and the accuracy and beliefs about deception are addressed. Next, deception within the therapeutic situation is reviewed, and finally, the purpose of the study and relevance to the field of Counseling Psychology are presented.

#### Reasons People Lie

Motivations for lying fall into three dimensions: (a) the oriented direction of benefit or whether it benefits the deceiver or target of deception, (b) gaining advantage or avoiding loss, and (c) for materialistic or psychological reasons (Vrij, 2008). The categories for these motivations are dimensional and not mutually exclusive. Thus, a lie

could be told to gain a selfish advantage concerning materialistic rewards. The following section examines these three motivations for lying.

#### Self-Oriented and Other-Oriented Lies

About 50% of lies told are self-oriented lies (DePaulo, et al., 1996). Self-oriented lies are told to protect liars from physical, emotional, and/or psychological harm or to provide lairs with some advantage (DePaulo et al., 1996). For example, in a self-oriented lie a person may tell others that he or she likes something, such as football, when he or she despises it, in order to avoid social rejection and gain acceptance.

In addition to telling lies to benefit the self, people are also motivated to tell lies in order to benefit others or make others appear better. These are other-oriented lies.

Approximately 25% of lies told are other-oriented lies (DePaulo et al., 1996). Other-oriented lies are told to protect other people from physical, emotional, or psychological harm or to provide others with some advantage. People are often motivated to tell other-oriented lies to people they like (Bell & DePaulo, 1996). For example, a person may be more likely to lie to a significant other about liking a meal that was cooked by him or her than to tell a restaurant chef that the meal was horribly cooked.

Another noted motivation for lying is a combination of self-oriented and otheroriented lies. About 25% of lies serve a self-interest and the interest of others (DePaulo et al., 1996). Vrij (2000) referred to these types of lies as social lies. Social lies exist to promote and maintain social relationships. These lies differ from self- or other-oriented lies because they are primarily motivated to preserve social relationships rather than just one person. Self-oriented lies serve the best interest of the deceiver and other-oriented lies are told for the benefits of others. Vrij argued that honesty all the time would lead to awkward social interactions and people may be seen as unnecessarily rude. Being honest by telling a boss that he or she is not really liked and one is only pretending in order to gain a promotion would likely be seen as rude, inappropriate, or just foolish. As a consequence, one would also be adversely affected in her or his job.

#### Lying Based on Emotions

People may lie in response to an emotion, to conceal an emotion, or to foster an emotion. For example, fear can often be a motivator to lie (Ekman, 2009). The truth can hurt. Telling the truth can sometimes hurt the receiver, which may result in negative consequences for the truth-teller. For example, telling a friend that you dislike his or her interpersonal communication style with your other friends may hurt your friend. In turn, your friend may cease the friendship or avoid social gatherings with you. Thus, the fear of the potential consequences motivates people to lie versus tell the truth (Ekman, 2009). Furthermore, the fear of getting caught for any transgression can motivate telling lies (Ekman, 2009). For example, a person who is having an affair may lie in response to a fear of being caught.

Alternatively, lies can be told to conceal emotional expression (Ekman, 2009).

People frequently enter social situations in which they lie rather than offer their true emotions. Lying to conceal emotions may be influenced by gender role socialization or by social norms. On the one hand, the acceptability of displaying particular emotions is

influenced by societal gender roles. For example, women in the United States of America are more likely to suppress anger expression and display other emotions (Cox, Stabb, & Hulgus, 2000). For example, a woman who felt anger as a result of a traffic incident may tell co-workers, when asked, that her day is going well. Telling the truth would reveal the woman's true feeling, anger. Due to anger not being an acceptable emotion to display for women, the woman may lie to her coworkers in order to conceal the emotion. Lying to conceal emotions may also be influenced by social norms. Situational variables influence individuals to adapt their behavior to the situation (Deutsch & Gerard, 1955). When placed in a public situation people may change their opinions or behaviors to mimic group members (Argyle, 1957). People may conceal thoughts or emotions from group members in favor of responding similarly with the group even when group members provide incorrect or inaccurate responses (Asch, 1955).

Telling lies can also be a means to create or perpetuate a positive emotion. For example, some people tell lies in order to feel happiness. Lying to a date about your vested interest in that person may enhance the rest of the date night. Lying can also result in good feelings for the deceiver. Successfully deceiving another person may lead to what Ekman (2009) referred to as duping delight. Duping delight is a positive feeling in response to successfully lying to another person. If a lie is successful, then the deceiver may feel a sense of accomplishment from telling the lie and duping another. The positive feeling is a result of not getting caught by the person who was duped. Though there does

not need to be an audience to witness the lie being told, the greatest intensity of duping delight is felt when an audience is present.

#### Lying as a Learned Response

From an early age, children develop the ability to be deceptive (Sodian, 1991).

Learning to tell lies gets reinforced through operant conditioning (Skinner, 1938).

Principles of reinforcement and punishment affect the likelihood of behaviors to occur in the future (Skinner, 1938). For example, a 3-year-old boy takes his sister's toy which leads to her crying. Parents soon hear the sister's cries and attempt to interrogate the children. The boy is asked what he did to his sister and he answers them by stating he took the toy. The young boy is then reprimanded. As a result, the child learns that honesty leads to a negative consequence. Consequently, the next time the young child is interrogated for taking something that was not his, he seeks to avoid punishment by lying. The punishment is this time evaded by not receiving an aversive consequence for his actions. Though children may directly learn to lie by avoiding punishment or through reinforcement, they also learn to lie through social learning (Bandura, Ross, & Ross, 1961).

Learning to lie at an early age may be strengthened through reinforcement and carried into adulthood (Skinner, 1938). Society may reinforce lying through social norms. People avoid telling a truth in order to avoid being ostracized or punished by other members of a group if the behavior conflicts with normative social influence (Asch,

1955). Conversely, lying in order to maintain social norms could be reinforced through praise or social acceptance (Asch, 1955). For example, telling a host of a formal dinner party that you do not enjoy the company and food may result in a rude response or being asked to leave.

#### **Experiences When Lying**

Liars may experience three processes when lying: (a) emotional, (b) content complexity, and (c) behavioral control (Vrij, 2000, 2008). People may experience various emotions when they are lying that range from guilt to excitement. Lying to a significant other about infidelity may bring about guilty feelings if the liar is remorseful or emotionally close to his or her partner. Telling lies can also create fear within someone, in that you may be afraid of getting caught. On the other hand, excitement can also be felt if the liar is getting away with telling the lie (Ekman, 2009).

Telling lies can also be cognitively complex through exhausting cognitive resources (Vrij, 2008). Fabricating a story that requires creating many specific details that are woven together to form a coherent narrative can require cognitive resources.

Furthermore, consistently recalling and retelling details of a false narrative may be more cognitively taxing. It requires fewer cognitive resources to rely on one's truthful recollection than to falsely create a story. Thus, falsifying more specific details of an event requires more cognitive resources. A person who wishes to avoid awkwardness from denying a lunch date with a fellow co-worker may deceive through fabricating alternative plans. However, questions asked around the details of the co-worker's plans

may yield a challenge in which the co-worker is put on the spot to create a coherent narrative. Saying that one is not available to attend lunch may be less challenging than coming up with specific details about the restaurant, place, or type of food.

Finally, people who lie may also experience a need to control their behavior (Vrij, 2008). When telling lies, people will try to act in a normative fashion, by suppressing behaviors (Burgoon & Buller, 1994; Vrij, 2000). Facial features and reactions are examples of behaviors that people may try to control and may not be seen as normative but as more rigid or planned (Ekman, 2009). For example, believing that gaze aversion is a behavior that liars show, people who are motivated to successfully lie may suppress gaze aversion and stare rigidly and unnaturally.

#### Individual Differences

In telling lies people may differ on frequency, motivation, and comfort. These individual differences within deception have been ascribed to various deceptive personality types. Vrij (2000) labeled four personality types that deal with deception in unique ways: manipulators, actors, sociable people, and adaptors. Manipulators are people who often tell self-oriented lies and are persistent in deception. In addition, these individuals are also manipulative, hedonistic, egocentric, show lack of remorse, and have a general preference for lying. Interpersonally, they lie when advantageous and are aware of the consequences that may occur from their deceit. Furthermore, manipulators are often liked by others more (Kashy & DePaulo, 1996). Being liked by others may serve as reinforcement for manipulators to increase lying behaviors.

On the other hand, actors are viewed as skilled regulators of their verbal and nonverbal behaviors (Vrij, 2000). Essentially, these personality types maintain emotional control in communication. Actors are also seen as being persistent in telling lies, experiencing little discomfort in doing so, and have less difficulty in telling lies. The term actor is used to portray these individuals as people who exercise a great deal of control in emotion and nonverbal behaviors. These individuals have a great ability to role-play in numerous social situations.

The third personality type discussed is termed sociable people. These individuals are often attracted to social situations, extraverted, and are motivated to lie to maintain a social conversation. Sociable people lie at higher rates than non-sociable people (Kashy & DePaulo 1996; Vrij, 2000). Sociable people may be motivated to lie in order to be favored by others, promote social interactions, and to avoid conflict within social situations.

The final personality type described by Vrij (2000) is adaptors. These individuals are seen as socially anxious people who are highly motivated to make a positive impression. Adaptors may adjust to social situations by lying, in order to make good impressions. Unlike the sociable person, adaptors may be motivated to lie to avoid the social awkwardness that sometimes occurs with honesty (Vrij, 2000).

#### Social and Cultural Influences

Personality captures particular characteristics of people who lie and the various attitudes and comfort they have in lying; however, social and cultural influences also

contribute to deception. Vrij (2000) claimed that, "how often people lie depends on the situation" (p. 8). Though people tell an average of two lies per day, deception occurs in various situations and some situations elicit more deception than others. Due to the influence of social norms on perceived deceptive cues, deviance from the norms would be seen suspiciously or more likely deceptive (Bond et al. 1992). People who do not follow social convention or may be unaware of societal norms may fall prey to being seen as more suspicious (Bond et al., 1992).

In some situations it may be more difficult to tell a lie due to the cognitive challenge (Vrij, 2000). Lying about something in which one has little to no knowledge can be very cognitively complex and may lead to refraining from lying all together. Furthermore, people may not be motivated to lie. If a group of men are talking about cars and you have no interest in cars or the group of men, then you may not be motivated to lie within that social interaction.

Other social situations may influence people's willingness to lie. For example, 83% of students reported that they are more willing to lie to get a job than they are to lie to close friends (Robinson, Shepherd, & Heywood, 1998). Overall, it is perceived as more wrong to lie to friends than to potential employers. Dating is another social context that is perceived as a permissible context for deceit. A majority of people, 90%, report willingness to tell at least one lie on a date and are more willing to lie when a prospective date was rated higher in facial physical attractiveness (Rowatt, Cunningham, & Druen, 1998, 1999).

Similarly, men and women may tell lies based on situational factors. In comparing gender, there were no differences found in the frequency of lying between men and women (DePaulo et al., 1996). However, men and women tend to tell different lies. Some of this research parallels with the research on conformity, in which there are no significant differences between men and women among conformity rates but differences exist when the task they are presented with is relatively unfamiliar to them (Eagly & Carli, 1981). Men tell more self-oriented lies and women tend to tell more other-oriented lies (DePaulo et al., 1996). Women may offer more compliments to others and avoid saying things that may hurt others' feelings.

Cultural differences are ever present with the United States of America (McAuliffe, 2008) and understanding these differences has slowly progressed within the field of psychology (Hall, 1997). Lies are also witnessed across cultures. In defining deception, some examples of deceit found within cultural groups were noted. In investigating American, Jordanian, and Indian cultures, lies were told and detected within these cultures (Bond & Atoum, 2000; Bond, Omar, Mahmoud, & Bonser, 1990). A study of 58 countries revealed that people in each of those countries held beliefs about liars (Global Deception Research Team, 2006). The common belief held across these cultures was that liars avert their gaze. However, research on indicators of deception does not support this belief (Vrij, 2008).

Differences in ethnic origins can complicate deception detection (Vrij, 2000).

Research has shown that Black individuals are viewed with more suspicion by Dutch

Caucasian police officers, which is attributed to the differences between behaviors displayed by respective cultural groups. Thus, defying social norms or violating the majority behavioral-expectancy may lead to suspicion from the majority culture and result in being perceived as deceptive. Vrij discussed how eye contact in Western cultures is seen as polite, but may be rude in other cultures. Consequently, he further notes that African-Americans may avert their gaze from White authority figures and this may be judged as a sign of deception.

#### **Detecting Deception**

Detecting deception has become increasingly popular. The television show titled *Lie to Me*, a series based on a professional lie detector, began airing in January 2009 and has successfully reached its third season (Lie to Me, 2010). The show's main character features a psychologist, Dr. Cal Lightman, who is based on a leading researcher in deception detection. Much of deception research is tailored to investigating how to detect deception (e.g., Bond & DePaulo, 2006). Thus, it is important to discuss research and findings related to detection deception.

When it comes to being able to detect deception, Vrij (2000) claimed that "There is nothing like Pinocchio's nose" (p. 24). Basically, there is no typical lying behavior. Liars do not tell lies followed by their nose growing, which would make it much easier to detect them. Contrary to popular myth, deception does not follow one set of behaviors, which is what makes detecting deception a complex task. Nonetheless, there are some indicators of deception which include nonverbal and verbal behaviors.

#### Nonverbal Behavior Indicators of Deception

Deception often does not present people with opportunities to verify truth. When there is no information to verify truth, people may rely on nonverbal behaviors to detect deception (Vrij, 2000). Nonverbal behavior can be understood as "behavior that reveals a person's feelings without words" (Brehm, Kassin, & Fein, 2005, p.100). Smiling, head nods, and hand movements are all examples of nonverbal behaviors. Nonverbal behaviors are often referred to in detecting deception; however, there is no typical nonverbal behavior that definitively indicates deception.

There are four reasons addressed as difficulties in controlling nonverbal behavior (Vrij, 2000). The first reason is that there are strong associations between nonverbal behavior and emotions (Vrij, 2000). Associations are made from early years of development and are expressed through physiological reactions (Ekman, 2009). Facial responses to emotion have been referred to as microexpressions (Ekman, 2009). Secondly, people are generally more attentive to words than nonverbal behavior (Vrij, 2000). Thus, the lack of attention to nonverbal behavior makes it more difficult to control these behaviors. Reading and writing skills are typically emphasized in school more than understanding nonverbal behaviors. Thirdly, words are often viewed as more important than behavior in social interactions (Vrij, 2000). If nonverbal behaviors are not viewed as important as verbal content, then verbal content will be more salient and require more attention and energy. It is usually trained professionals who are attentive to nonverbal communication. Psychologists, graduate counseling students, orators, and others who

specialize in some form of communication may be ones who are aware of nonverbal behaviors. Therapists are often trained to attend to nonverbal behaviors when learning basic interviewing skills (Ivey & Ivey, 2003). Finally, people may be able to silence themselves from words but muting nonverbal is near impossible for people (Vrij, 2000). People still react with nonverbal behavior even if content is suppressed. Reacting with nonverbal behaviors can provide information about cues to deception.

Nonverbal behavioral indicators of deception include eye contact, eye blinks, head movements, hand and finger movements, arm movements, leg and foot movements, smiles, postural shifts, shrugs, and gestures (Hart, Hudson, Fillmore, & Griffith, 2006; Vrij, 2008). Prior research has revealed a decrease in hand and finger movements, arm movements, leg and foot movements when people tell lies (Hart et al., 2006; Vrij, 2008). See Table 1 for a list of nonverbal indicators of deception (Hart et al., 2006; Vrij, 2008).

Table 1

Nonverbal Indicators of Deception

Deception Variable	Prior Research
Eye contact	No change
Eye blinks	No change
Head movements	No change
Hand and finger movements	Decrease
Arm movements	Decrease
Leg and foot movements	Decrease
Smiles	No change
Postural shifts	No change
Shrugs	No change
Gestures	No change

Note: The current table was adapted from Hart and colleagues (2006).

### Verbal and Paraverbal Indicators of Deception

Researchers suggest that there is no typical verbal deceptive behavior (e.g., DePaulo et al., 2003; Vrij, 2008). However, as with nonverbal behavioral indicators, there are some verbal indicators of deception (Akehurst, Köhnken, Vrij, & Bull 1996; DePaulo et al., 2003; Vrij, 2008). Verbal indicators that are more likely to occur with deception which includes more negative statements, more implausible answers, shorter responses, fewer self-references, and more indirect replies (Vrij, 2000).

Paraverbal indicators of deception are "vocal cues that accompany speech behavior" (Sporer & Schwandt, 2006, p. 422). Paraverbal indicators include voice pitch, response latencies, filled and unfilled pauses, message duration, speech errors, and repetitions (Akehurst et al.; Hart, Fillmore, & Griffith, 2010). These cues have been discovered as indicators of deception (Hart et al., 2010; Sporer & Schwandt, 2006).

The two paraverbal cues that share consistency in research as indicators which increase with deception are pitch and response latency. See Table 2 for a list of verbal and paraverbal indicators of deception and findings related whether the behavior increases, decreases, or does not change (Akehurst et al., 1996; Hart et al., 2010; Vrij, 2008).

Table 2

Verbal and Paraverbal Indicators of Deception

Deception Variable	Prior Research
Speech interruptions	No change
Pauses	No change
Latency to respond	Increase
Hectic speech	No change
Pitch	Increase
Answer length	No change
Short simple sentences	Increase
Plausible descriptions	Decrease
Logical consistency	Decrease
Detailed description	Decrease
Unusual detail	No change
Unnecessary detail	No change
Description of feelings	No change
Describe what someone had said	Decrease
Description of interactions	No change
Spontaneous corrections	Decrease
Claim lack of memory	Decrease
Story contradictions	No change

Note: The current table was adapted from Hart and colleagues (2006).

### Accuracy

When it comes to detecting deception, Vrij (2000) reported that, "Generally, people are rather good at lying, but not very good at detecting lies" (p.2). In fact, a study that analyzed 206 deception detection studies found that people are only slightly better than chance (54%) in accurately detecting deception (Bond & DePaulo, 2006). People also more correctly identify truths (61%) than correctly identifying lies (47%). Reflecting back to the statement that everyone lies may cause one to wonder what makes people not good at detecting lies if it seems a part of human nature.

Professional lie detectors. The most popular professional lie detector consists of being connected to wires that report to a machine, known as a polygraph (Vrij, 2000, 2008). The polygraph is an instrument that has been used to detect deception by measuring physiological responses (Vrij, 2000). The polygraph records palmar sweat, blood pressure, and respiration. The intended function of the polygraph was to record sympathetic nervous system arousal. Sympathetic nervous system arousal may be attributed to lying because many think that people who lie get anxious or nervous (Ekman, 2009). People have often referred to the polygraph machine as a lie-detector but the name is misleading because the polygraph measures physiological arousal rather than directly measuring deceit (Vrij, 2000).

Since the polygraph, other recent developments have been constructed to measure the veracity of claims (Vrij, 2008). Some of these specialized tools have been used to analyze speech content and brain activity. Overall, the majority of these various approaches have yielded higher than chance probabilities at detecting deception. Some authors suggest exercising some caution in interpreting the results of these detection tools. Some of the field studies of the polygraphs yield the highest accuracy but may contain sampling bias and difficulties with establishing the ground truth or achieving high accuracy in identifying truth-tellers (Vrii, 2008).

Accuracy of detection. Mixed research indicated that professional people were good at detecting deception. Bond and DePaulo's (2006) meta-analysis suggested that people are only slightly better than chance at detecting deception. Vrij (2008) reported

the accuracy rates of laypersons and professionals and found that they were not much higher than chance. Laypersons maintain an accuracy rate of 63% of truth detection and 48% lie detection. Professionals' accuracy ratings were 56% for truth detection and 56% for lie detection (Bond & DePaulo, 2006; Vrij, 2000).

Ekman and colleagues (1999) discussed that the most studies of deception are conducted in laboratories, having low external validity and not representing high-stakes lying situations. The accuracy ratings reported by Vrij (2008) of laypersons and professions were both laboratory studies. Two studies discovered that secret service agents and federal agents are among the few who can detect deception with a high degree of accuracy (Ekman & O'Sullivan, 1991; Ekman et al., 1999).

Vrij (2000) provides several reasons for why people may not be good at detecting deception. He reported that people are not educated about how to catch liars. Rather than discovering the truth about deception, people may rely on heuristics to detect deception, such as the faulty belief that liars avert their eye gaze. People may also vary in their motivation to detect deception. For example, some people may be motivated to not detect deception because the truth would not serve them well. As a result, people who are not motivated to detect deception may subscribe to the phrase of ignorance is bliss.

Detecting deception can be difficult at times because some people are good liars (Vrij, 2008; Vrij et al., 2010).

#### Reliefs

Another reason that people may not be good lie detectors is due to possessing inaccurate beliefs about lying behaviors (Forrest, Feldman, & Tyler, 2004). Though there is no typical behavior that people display when lying, people may hold inaccurate beliefs about nonverbal, verbal, or paraverbal indicators of deception. For example, looking away or looking to the left has often been seen as an indication of lying (Global Deception Research Team, 2006). Folklore, traditional wisdom, and faulty police literature contribute to maintaining inaccurate beliefs about cues to deception (Vrij, 2000). Vrij reported that most people believe that an increase in gaze aversion and smiling are indicators of deception. These two indicators are not found to occur significantly with deception, although many have this belief.

A global study investigated beliefs about deception from 58 countries (Global Deception Research Team, 2006). Various researchers in the different countries across the world provided participants with an open-ended and closed-ended survey to measure the various beliefs that people have regarding cues to deception. The study discovered that the most significantly held beliefs related to deception were gaze behaviors. Thus, faulty beliefs about deception may be a reason as to why people perform poorly in detecting deception.

People who hold more accurate beliefs about cues to deception were better lie detectors (Forrest et al., 2004). Judges of deception were deemed most accurate in detecting deception when they held highly accurate beliefs about cues to deception and

those beliefs were activated. Thus, suspicion or holding accurate beliefs about cues to deception alone are not enough to produce accurate judges of deception (Forrest et al., 2004). The combination of suspicion and accurate beliefs about indicators of deception yields accurate deception detectors.

Discovery of various cues to behaviors has allowed researchers to apply these findings to explore beliefs about cues to deception by comparing reported beliefs about deceptive behaviors with actual indicators of deceptive behavior. A study investigated beliefs that managers held about nonverbal cues to deception (Hart et al., 2006). The study was intended to identify if managers held accurate beliefs about nonverbal indicators of deception. The researchers hypothesized that due to managers having deception detection as one of their job duties, they would be more skilled at detecting deception and hold more accurate beliefs about deception compared to non-managers. The study recruited 120 non-manager and 120 manager participants. Both groups were given a questionnaire that asked participants to rate their beliefs about 10 nonverbal behaviors: (a) eye contact, (b) eye blinks, (c) head movements, (d) hand and finger movements, (e.) arm movements, (f) leg and foot movements, (g) smiles, (h) postural shifts, (i) shrugs, and (j) gestures. Participants were to rate whether they believed these nonverbal indicators to increase, decrease, or show no change. After rating nonverbal indicators, participants were asked to indicate their confidence in detecting deception. Results from the study revealed that mangers and non-managers did not differ significantly in their beliefs about deceptive cues. Mangers held inaccurate beliefs for all indicators except smiling. Managers accurately identified that smiling does not change as an indicator in deception.

Another study by Hart and colleagues (2010) examined beliefs about verbal and verbal cues. The study examined managers' beliefs compared to non-mangers' beliefs. The study asked participants to rate 18 variables: (a) speech interruptions, (b) pauses, (c) latency to respond, (d) hectic pitch, (e) speech, (f) answer length, (g) short simple sentences, (h) plausible descriptions, (i) logical consistency, (j) detailed description, (k) unusual detail, (1) unnecessary detail, (m) description of feelings, (n) reporting what another had said, (o) describing interactions with others, (p) spontaneous corrections, (q) reporting a lack of memory for information, and (r) story contradictions. Participants rated whether each of the 18 variables increased, decreased, or remained the same during deception. Findings indicated that managers and non-managers did not differ significantly in their beliefs about deceptive cues. Managers and non-managers held inaccurate beliefs about 15 out of 18 of the variables. The three beliefs that were accurate with previous research findings were latency to respond, pitch, and logical consistency. Participants accurately believed that latency to respond and pitch increased during deception, and logical consistency decreases.

# Deceit and Therapy

Deception research has increased over the past decade, yet little research has examined deceit within the context of therapy. Much of the literature pertaining to therapy and deception has almost exclusively addressed its detection by investigating

psychologists (e.g., Briggs, 1992, Ekman et al., 1999). Other literature has referenced deception detection within psychological assessments (e.g., Greene, 2000; Groth-Marnat, 2009). Outside of detection some authors have attempted to shed light on their experiences of being duped by clients (Kottler & Carlson, 2011), discussed motivations for lies through theoretical lenses (Miller, 1992), and examined counselor's attention to beliefs about deception (Briggs, 1992).

# Accuracy of Therapists

Even though most people perform no better than chance at detecting deception (Bond & DePaulo, 2006), much of the detection literature has sought to identify specially trained individuals who can use their skills to accurately identify deception (Ekman & O'Sullivan, 1991; Ekman et al., 1999). Psychologists and therapists have received minimal attention towards detection abilities. As a result, it is uncertain how well a therapist can detect deception. Understanding human behavior and how it aligns with verbal content is a task that most, if not all, therapists undertake, whether it is the sole focus of a theory or merely a means to build rapport (Ivey & Ivey, 2003). Briggs (1992) claimed that therapist accuracy in detecting deception would be a good skill for therapists to have in her or his repertoire. Being able to accurately detect deception would allow a therapist to discuss the deceit with the client. Therapist and client could address the nature and function of a client's lies. Though psychologists are not formally trained in deception detection they are trained in attending to human behavior and discrepancies in behavior (Ivey & Ivey, 2003).

A study that examined psychologists' accuracy in detecting deception found that psychologists performed better than chance (Ekman et al., 1999). The study enlisted 107 practicing clinical psychologists who were interested in deception, 209 clinical psychologists with no special interest in deception, and 125 academic psychologists. All groups were shown 1 minute video samples of 10 different males who discussed their opinions about controversial social issues. Out of the 10 males shown, half told the truth and the other half told lies. Findings from the study revealed that clinical psychologists who had an interest in deception demonstrated a statistically significant difference in detecting deception (M = 67.5%) compared to clinical psychologists with no interest in deception and academic psychologists. Furthermore, clinical psychologists, who held no special interest in deception, demonstrated a statistically significant difference in detection accuracy (M = 62.1%) compared to the academic psychologists (M = 57.7%).

Ekman and colleagues (1999) noted that psychologists might be more accurate in detecting deception, because it may be that elements in counseling, such as understanding and attending to nonverbal behaviors, that might help therapists hone in on the potential discrepancies, or lies, in therapy. In most training programs, therapists practice awareness of, and bringing attention to, the discrepancies between nonverbal behaviors, content, and reported emotions. For example, while laughing, a client may state that he or she is mad about his or her partner ending the relationship. A therapist might note that the client has reported anger but is laughing and then draws attention to

this discrepancy. Similarly, while crying, a client may also lie to a therapist and state that she or he is not bothered by a loss in his or her life.

Another study (Briggs, 1992) also investigated counselors' accuracy in detecting deception. In this study, counselors' accuracy in assessing the veracity of clients' statements were investigated in a counseling situation. The study randomly assigned 40 participants to 20 vocational counselors. Unknown to the counselors, half of the participants were informed to be honest to the counselors and the other half were instructed to lie to the counselors. Each counselor interviewed two participants, one participant who lied and one who was honest. The participant assignment was counterbalanced, in which ten counselors interviewed the truthful client first and lying client second and vice versa. Each interview lasted for 15 minutes. Counselors were to assess each client's level of career development/maturity. Following each interview the counselors were asked to complete the Counselor Assessment Questionnaire (CAQ) and Inventory of Verbal and Nonverbal Behavior. The CAQ was used as the dependent measure to score counselor's assessments of honest and deceptive clients. The study revealed that counselors were able to detect the deceptive and honest clients with 85% accuracy. Honest clients were correctly identified with 90% accuracy and deceptive clients were identified with 80% accuracy.

Briggs (1992) suggested that these findings might have been due to utilizing a realistic research design. The naturalistic setting of vocational interviews for vocational counselors mimics real counseling situations more than showing counselors various

videos of people and asking them to detect the liars. Therapists may have also performed better than chance with detecting deception because they are trained to observe human behaviors and discrepancies (Ivey & Ivey, 2003).

#### **Detection in Assessments**

One of the most commonly used therapeutic tools for clinical assessment, diagnosis, and treatment is the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, revised fourth edition (American Psychiatric Association [DSM-IV-TR], 2000).

Deception is noted as a part of two disorders within the DSM-IV-TR. The first, Antisocial Personality Disorder (301.7), requires a minimum of three out of seven criteria to warrant diagnosis, one of which is deceitfulness. Secondly, Malingering (V65.2) is another clinical condition that is based on lying and motivation by external incentives. For example, clients with the malingering diagnosis may lie about false symptoms in order to avoid work or to obtain some financial gains.

Psychometrics is another assessment area that has documented interest in deception (e.g., Greene, 2000; Guenther & Otto, 2010). Many of the instruments are geared towards providing the most reliable and valid profile of a client to aid in the evaluation process. Some assessments utilize deception detection strategies and items to help assess the validity of a given measure through evaluating the propensity of the client to respond to items in a particular manner with the intent to mislead the examiner (e.g. Greene, 2000). The Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory-II (Butcher, Dahlstrom, Graham, Tellegen, & Kaemmer, 2001) is set up to detect deception through scales that

seek to determine if a client is attempting to lie, respond in a socially desirable manner, or fake psychopathology (Greene, 2000). Increases or spikes on these particular scales can create an invalid test or uninterpretable test. The Millon Clinical Multiphasic Inventory-III (Millon, Davis, Millon, & Grossman, 2009) also has scales that indicate if clients are trying to be socially desirable, omit information, or exaggerate negative aspects (Groth-Marnat, 2009).

# Therapists Who were Duped

A recent book, *Duped*, presents a compilation of various tales of client deceit, the consequences of the deceit, and the therapist's evaluation of the situation (Kottler & Carlson, 2011). Many therapists have reported a variety of experiences in which they were duped by their clients. Therapists report having been duped by clients with a range of intentions from purposefully falsifying an entire therapeutic relationship (Grzegorek, 2011) to omitting information about dying from a terminal illness (Rochlen, 2011).

The collection of various stories of client deception provides insight into the wide range of client deceit, including the various motivations of the client to lie to the reactions of the therapist once the deception is discovered. Client lies ranged from outright lies to lies of omission and included self-oriented and other-oriented motivations. On the other hand, there were two dimensions of therapist reactions to client deceit: initial and reflective reactions. Many therapists reported initial reactions of negative emotional responses, such as embarrassment, anger, shame, and surprise, after the discovery of the client's deceit. However, upon reflection, many therapists reported that their experiences

contributed to their learning and growth and experienced more tolerant or positive responses (Kottler & Carlson, 2011).

In summary, Kottler and Carlson (2011) proposed 6 clinical implications for lying within therapy; (a) lies have a meaning in the relationship and therapists should allow the meaning to surface, (b) lying is often about impression management, (c) be open in discussing the meaning of truth with clients, colleagues, and self, (d) therapists and supervisors perpetuate a myth that clients are honest (truth bias), (e) the client is in charge of discussing lies and therapists are not detectives or interrogators, and (f) therapists should accept lying as a part of therapy. The inferences made by Kottler and Carlson (2011) appeared to offer an explanation of the function of deception in therapy and suggest a role for therapist in dealing with deception. Pertaining to the function of deception in therapy, the authors inferred that deception is a normative part of therapy, lies are told for impression management and are meaningful in therapy. In discussing the role of the therapist in client deception, the authors implied that therapists should assume a passive role in dealing with client deception and pursue an active role in discussing suspicion and client deceit with supervisors and colleagues. A passive role is understood to mean that therapists should not seek to detect deception as their primary goal. The authors suggested that therapists should discuss a lie if the client mentions lying as a concern or if it surfaces among other discussions and should not intentionally seek to discover client lies. The authors suggested that supervision and consultations should be

the context for explicitly and intentionally discussing client lies. Within these contexts a therapist is able to discuss the function and reasons for client lies.

#### Reasons for Client Deceit

People may be motivated to lie for various reasons. Some of the motivations discovered for everyday lies (DePaulo et al., 1996) can also be applied to therapeutic situations. For example, clients may tell self-oriented lies to avoid expressing an emotion. Thus, a client may be grieving the loss of a loved one and tell the therapist that he or she is doing well with the loss in order to avoid expressing sadness. Clients may also tell other-oriented lies to protect the therapist. For example, a client, when asked to evaluate therapy and the therapist, may lie by stating that she or he has had profound insight and changes when there has been no difference. Clients may tell these types of lies to protect the therapist's feelings (Ekman, 2009) or to prevent the therapist from thinking that he or she failed (Stevens, 2011).

Client deceit and theoretical orientation. Understanding client deception may be viewed differently based upon a therapist's theoretical framework. A psychotherapeutic theory is often the foundation of how a therapist may view his or her clients. Miller (1992) suggested that client lies could be understood through psychotherapy perspectives and proposed three perspectives for understanding deceit: Freudian/psychoanalytic, person-centered, and behavioral.

From the psychoanalytic perspective, lying may be a means to protect oneself from unconscious motives or to protect another person from wish fulfillment (Miller,

1992). A lie from this perspective allows the client to fulfill a wish occurring in fantasy but not in reality. For example, lying by denying your feelings for another person, when the other person asks you if you are romantically interested, would allow you to maintain your fantasy of really liking the person while also protecting your image in reality.

Protection of self and others fits with self-oriented and other-oriented lies that people often tell (DePaulo et al., 1996). A client could protect him or herself by avoiding potential embarrassment if rejected and protect others by avoiding potential awkwardness if the other person was not romantically interested.

From the person-centered approach, lying is centered in protecting self-worth (Miller, 1992). Self-worth has been reported to be one of the four needs of meaning for individuals, which allows people to feel valued (Baumeister, 1991). Thus, clients seek to preserve their sense of worth and will lie to do so (Miller). For example, a client may state that he or she makes more money than she or he actually does in order to feel a great sense of worth.

Finally, lies discussed from a behavioral perspective may be seen as learned, modeled, shaped, and immediately reinforced (Miller, 1992). Telling the truth may sometimes elicit aversive consequences. For example, a client who reveals that he or she was intimately involved with someone of the same sex may feel shamed by the therapist. The therapist's remarks that elicit shame in the client would be an aversive consequence. Thus, the client's discussion of sexual orientation has been punished and the likelihood of discussing sexual orientation in the future has decreased.

### Deceit and the Therapeutic Relationship

Therapy consists of a relationship between a therapist and client in which the client often presents with an issue or distress and the therapist attempts to provide intervention, or help (Orlinsky, Ronnestad, & Willutzki, 2004). At its core, therapy involves a relationship or bond between at least two people, the therapist and the client. The therapeutic relationship is often reported as a primary factor in therapeutic outcome for the client (Lambert & Ogles, 2004). A positive relationship is a supportive one, which precedes other factors for improvement found in psychotherapy and it is often viewed as necessary for change.

Another interpersonal facet of the therapeutic relationship is the product of the contributions of both the therapist and client is referred to as the therapeutic bond (Orlinsky et al., 2004). People who do not work well together or do not contribute to the relational bond will not be productive. The therapeutic bond has been found to be a significant aspect of process and outcome research (Orlinsky et al., 2004). The therapeutic bond could be threatened and therapy could be affected with the introduction of client deceit.

# Consequences of Deception in Therapy

Telling lies in therapy could have negative consequences for the client and therapist. People may be motivated to lie out of fear of losing a relationship, to avoid the harmful consequences of telling the truth, or to reap the most benefits for one's self.

Some lies within relationships may seem to preserve the relationship; however, most

serious lies are told to close relationship partners (DePaulo, Ansfield, Kirkendol, & Boden, 2004) and can have consequential effects on relationships. Specifically, lies that are told in conjunction with a transgression are less forgivable and diminish the capacity to fully recover trust (Schweitzer, Hershey, Bradlow, 2006). Client lies may be more financially or psychologically costly (DePaulo et al, 2003), hinder or cease treatment outcome, extend or suspend therapy, and negatively affect the relationship (e.g., Sagarin, Rhoads, & Cialdini, 1998). Though client lies affect both parties, the consequences differ for client and therapist.

Dangers for clients in telling lies. Beyond the therapeutic relationship, "the patient's contribution to psychotherapy outcome is vastly greater than that of either the particular treatment method or the therapy relationship" (Norcross & Lambert, 2011, p. 4). As deception has been defined as an intentional attempt to create a false belief (Vrij, 2008), it appears that its use in therapy would not contribute to outcome but rather suspend it.

The majority of clients enter into therapy with intentions of receiving help from the therapist. If a client's intentions were withheld from a therapist, then a therapist may not be able to fully aid the client in relieving distress. Ekman (2009) discussed a psychiatric patient who lied to therapists in order to receive a weekend pass out of the facility. The client successfully fooled the staff into believing that she was well enough for a weekend pass though she had desperately wanted to kill herself. She revealed the nature of her lie before receiving the weekend pass. The danger in the client's lie was that

it could have prevented her from receiving mental health services and resulted in the end of her life.

Some lies may hold a stronger consequence for the client depending on the therapeutic situation. For example, discovering a client's lie about substance abuse (Stevens, 2011) may have more negative consequences for a client than from discovering that a client has lied for the purposes of an insurance settlement (Burns, 2011). On the one hand, the client within a mandated treatment context may face additional fines, legal fees, accrue more therapy sessions, possibly be arrested, and/or have to terminate therapy. A client's omission about the use of substance abuse could even be detrimental by ending in death (Stevens, 2011). On the other hand, a client who lies to insurance claims for financial gains would benefit from the consequences, if successful in her or his deceit (Burns, 2011).

Sometimes lies are told in order to create or manage impressions (DePaulo et al., 2003). Clients may enter therapy with preconceived expectations of how they are to act as a client, or they may create an image of who they want to be (Orlinsky et al., 2004). Telling lies within therapy in order to create and consistently manage an impression can be very psychologically taxing (DePaulo et al., 2003). DePaulo and colleagues claimed, "Deliberate attempts to manage impressions, including impressions of credibility, are attempts at self-regulation, and self-regulation consumes mental resources" (p.5). The dangers of lying may entail using up cognitive resources for the purpose of consistently conveying a narrative, rather than focusing on the treatment at hand. Thus, clients who lie

in therapy create a cognitive load rather than dedicating those resources for other therapeutic gains (i.e., presenting concern; DePaulo et al.,2003).

Dangers for therapists in being duped. Therapy involves a relationship, in which deception can have negative consequences (Miller, Perlman, & Brehm., 2007). A consequence of client lies, for therapists, is the emotional reactions that therapists may have in response to lies (Kottler & Calrson, 2011). Therapists do not want to be duped and may react to discovered deception with a variety of emotions, such as surprise, anger, embarrassment, and/or shame (Kottler & Carlson, 2011). These emotional reactions may be at the expense of the therapeutic relationship and the client's goals for therapy.

A client who creates a completely false presentation of concerns and personal details may elicit emotions of anger or embarrassment, such as the case discussed by Grzegorek (2011). A 20 year-old university student sought counseling services primarily motivated to create all false information in order to see if he could successfully deceive a therapist. He was successful. The therapist believed the client throughout all of the sessions. She did not have evidence suggesting otherwise. During the last session the client revealed his true motivations and reported that he lied about everything. When the therapist asked the client to share his motivations for lying he reported that he likes to have fun with people and wants to see if he can make them do things and was purely motivated by duping delight. In short, he wanted to see if he could successfully deceive someone who is an apparent expert on human behavior. However, for the therapist the consequence was less positive. She reported feeling "used, violated, and angry...like a

chump" (p.36). Subsequently, the therapist began questioning her ability as a therapist.

She reported that the case made her less trusting of other clients.

However, not all client lies are directed at the therapist or exclusively motivated to trick the therapist for duping delight (Kottler & Calrson, 2011). The majority of client lies do not likely resemble the previous case. In many cases, client deception may involve other topics or relationships. For example, a client who lies about a yearly salary to a therapist is not intentionally seeking to sabotage the relationship. The client may be motivated to create an impression of wealth, or to gain acceptance from the therapist. Nonetheless, discovering client lies can still affect therapists. In discovering client lies therapists may be less likely to trust the client (Schweitzer et al, 2006), be more suspicious in therapy (e.g., Grzegorek, 2011), have a reduced desire to counsel, and/or be less satisfied with client outcome (e.g., Stevens, 2011).

All of the reported cases of client deceit in Kottler and Carlson's (2011) book were discovered instances of deception. However, there are many times that therapists are not privy to their client's lies. Many therapists may subscribe to the notion that out of sight is out of mind and undetected deception is unimportant. However, it is not the case that undetected deception preserves a relationship. Sagarin and colleagues (1998) discovered that undetected deception can damage a therapeutic relationship. The researchers constructed a study based on the premise that a liar perceives the target of a lie as less honest based on the liar's deception, which they refer to as deceiver's distrust. The experimenters tested their premise based on three psychological processes: (a) a false

consensus effect, (b) ego-protective mechanism, and (c) belief in a just world. The authors discovered that deceiver's distrust did exist and participants in their study perceived targets of lies as dishonest. The mechanism that best supported this effect was the ego-protection motivated version of the false consensus. Essentially, the liar normalizes his or her behavior by believing that others lie too. Thus, undetected lies in therapy may lead the client to distrust the therapist based on deceiver's distrust. Viewing a therapist as dishonest and untrustworthy may negatively affect the relationship (Sagarin et al., 1998). Undetected deception and client perceptions stemming from distrust are factors that are not things that therapists can control.

### Therapists' Training in Deception

Therapists are trained in a variety of areas but none include training as an interrogator or deception detection expert (Stedman, 2006). Therapists may discuss perceived lies in terms of discrepancies (Ivey & Ivey, 2003). Even if therapists explicitly discuss clients' lies, the primary purpose of therapy and therapists is not to detect deception but to relieve the client's distress (Corsini &Wedding, 2005), which may be the reason that they are able to be more accurate in detecting deception.

A study investigated indirect versus direct lie detection and its effects on accurately detecting deception (Hart et al., 2009). The researchers recruited 104 participants who were randomly assigned to one of two groups: (a) the direct lie detection group or (b) the indirect lie detection group. Both groups observed a video of 20 people who responded to interview questions. On the video, 10 of the interviewees told lies and

the other 10 told the truth. Each group was provided with different instructions. The direct lie detection group was to determine whether the individuals shown in the video were lying or telling the truth. Participants in the indirect lie detection group were instructed to determine whether the individuals shown in the video displayed a change in behavior, body language, or speech changes. Findings indicated that participants in the indirect lie detection group were significantly more accurate in identifying lies compared to participants in the direct lie detection group. The findings also revealed that the indirect lie detection group performed better than chance in detecting lies. Lastly, the results found that participants in the indirect lie detection group were more confident in their decisions while judging lies. Thus, a part of therapists' accuracy in detecting deception may be related to therapists being indirect lie detectors. Therapists are not formally trained as interrogators but their behavioral observations skills may align with being indirect detectors. Simply, therapists are not explicitly instructed to seek client lies before each session or implement deception detection methods as a primary goal of therapy.

In handling client deception, the topic is rarely discussed (Reed, 1996). Miller (1992) reported that all counselors "can recall a situation in which we either felt a client was not telling the truth [and] counselors-in-training often ask advice on how to deal with a client who was speaking dishonestly" (p. 25). Reed noted that "in psychiatric and psychotherapeutic literature, the idea of clients lying is not one that is commonly voiced, and many therapeutic positions seem to discourage discussion of the issue" (p. 249).

Mental health professionals reported that discussing deception was taboo (Reed, 1996) or that its discussion is a way of admitting incompetence (Kottler & Carlson, 2011).

Given that client lies may have consequences, such as perceiving the target as untrusting (Sagarin et al., 1998) and damaging trust within relationships (Möllering, 2009), and many therapists seek knowledge in handling deceptive clients (Miller, 1992), it seems important train therapists about how to handle deception. Nonetheless, there is a dearth of literature and training in client deception. The literature has provided three reasons that deception in therapy is not typically addressed: (a) fear of incompetence (Kottler & Carlson, 2011), (b) a truth bias towards clients (O'Sullivan, 2003), and (c) the perceived therapist role (Barnett, 2011).

# Fear of Incompetence

Kottler and Carlson (2011) reported that while writing their book *Duped* many therapists were reluctant to share stories. The authors suggested that these therapists might have been afraid to be discovered as a fraud and/or afraid of admitting incompetence and being reported to a licensing board. The fear that therapists may have in admitting to being duped may stem from the perception that therapists are masters of human behavior (Kottler & Carlson, 2011). Therapists interact with a variety of clients and attend to client discrepancies. Thus, admitting that a client was able to lie in therapy might be admitting incompetence in an inability to decode human behavior.

### Therapists' Truth Bias

Interactions with others typically involve communicating more truthful statements than false statements (Bond & DePaulo, 2006). Communication may be difficult if the majority of messages were falsehoods. Believing statements to be true does not become a problem until a lie is communicated. A reason that people are poor at detecting deception is due to a tendency to believe most statements as true, creating a truth bias (O'Sullivan, 2003; Vrij 2008). A meta-analysis revealed that people judge more messages to be honest than deceptive due to most interactions being truthful (Bond & DePaulo, 2006), As a result, therapists may believe that most of their clients are truthful, even after being duped (Grzegorek, 2011). Myths about client honesty may be perpetuated by therapists (Kottler & Carlson, 2011). The myth that clients do not lie may be referred to as therapists' truth bias. There are a few reasons that therapists may be inclined to believe that clients would be more likely to tell the truth than lie. Kottler and Carlson claimed that "therapists make it easy for their clients to lie" (p. 272). Therapists often enter therapy with the mindset to establish a trusting relationship and in doing so they may believe all of what a client has to say as being truth.

The initial intent of confidentiality was to implement a safe trusting environment for clients to be open and truthful (Pope & Vasquez, 2007). Therapists often discuss confidentiality as a means for clients to share most things without incurring negative penalties or being reported to an official. The entire purpose of confidentiality is to encourage client honesty. Clients are allowed to share personal information with the

safeguard of knowing that their information will not be distributed or made known to others, within certain legal limits that are noted as part of the informed consent.

Lastly, psychotherapy involves financial costs (Kazdin, 2004; Krupnick & Pincus, 1992). Lying about presenting concerns may avoid the central concern, unless that concern is lying. Each session dedicated to avoiding, falsifying, or omitting things in therapy may be financially costly. Therefore, therapists may believe that a client would be wasting resources if he or she were to lie in therapy.

## Therapist Role

The role of a therapist typically involves providing assessments, diagnosis, and treatment through psychotherapy (American Psychological Association; APA, 1999).

Therapists are not professional lie detectors or interrogators. "Taking the attitude or approach of an interrogator and believing nothing until I receive absolute proof would likely be inimical to the establishment and maintenance of a positive therapeutic alliance" (Barnett, 2011, p. 125). Therapists often ask clients many questions but the intent and delivery of those questions seem to be key in building rapport. Playing the role of interrogator could be perceived as untrusting and prevent the establishment of rapport, setting the stage for a poor therapeutic relationship.

As a result, in some instances it may be more beneficial to believe clients and be duped than to interrogate and challenge the client. Langer (2010) claimed that "sometimes believing the patient is more important than knowing whether the patient's story is true" (p. 16). Believing the story of a client who has been sexually abused may be

more important and helpful than seeking to detect the veracity of the client's narrative. Often, sexually abused clients may have other people in their lives who questioned the events and the existence of the assault. Clients who report being sexually assaulted are often interrogated by police officers and report negative experiences with how the police handled the situation (Felson & Pare, 2008). In short, these situations are examples through which a therapist might not approach a client to reveal deceit (Langer, 2010).

On the other hand, therapists do ask many open-ended questions and prompt for truthful information (Ivey & Ivey, 2003). Truthful information means the most accurate representation and purposeful intent to convey such information. Therapists seek an honest representation of client histories, feelings, thoughts, and behaviors per the client's experience. When clients disclose information, therapists may hold beliefs about client behaviors that relate to the veracity of their statements.

### Therapist Beliefs and Confidence

Much of the literature that has examined beliefs about cues to deception has included laypeople, university students, police officers, customs officers, managers, judges, migration board personnel, teachers, prosecutors, prisoners, prison officers, and social workers (see Vrij, 2008). Given that people often develop beliefs about how liars behave and use those beliefs when detecting deception, it may be important to investigate therapists' beliefs about deception (Forrest et al., 2004; Vrij, 2008). Therapists interact with people frequently and though they may not be actively interrogating their clients, they may be seeking client truths and falsehoods. Examining the beliefs that therapists

hold about cues to deception may shed light on therapists' accuracy in detecting deception and reveal the accuracy of deceptive cues used by therapists (Forrest et al., 2004).

There is currently no known work that has explored therapists' beliefs about cues to deception. The literature that closely associated with therapists' beliefs about cues to deception was a dissertation that investigated counselor assessments of truthful and honest clients (Briggs, 1992). The author explored the different verbal and nonverbal cues to which counselors attend when assessing deceptive clients. The nature of the design was exploratory and no hypotheses were made. The author recruited 132 doctoral counselor interns from 40 counseling centers and asked participants to complete the Inventory of Verbal and Nonverbal Behaviors. The inventory was created by the author and consisted of 25 verbal and nonverbal cues. The author did not know if these cues were related to deception. The inventory asked participants to respond to how much attention is dedicated to each cue. Responses for attention to cues were rated on a 4-point Likert-type rating scale (never to always). Participants were instructed that they were to indicate the degree to which they would attend to each behavior if they were interviewing a deceptive client. The author entered the data into an exploratory factor analysis with the intent of reducing the numerous amounts of possible cues into few factors. Four factors were discovered and accounted for 64% of the variability: (a) stationary cues of a client's face and body, (b) movements of a client's limbs, (c) the quality/style of a client's communications, and (d) the content/expression of a client's communications.

The findings from the study contributed to the literature of deception in therapy. Specifically, the findings reflected that therapists do report attending to certain cues when suspicious of client deceit (Briggs, 1992). The limitation of the study was that accurate cues to deception were not known or available when the research was conducted. Therefore, the study could not substantiate actual beliefs that therapists hold regarding deception. Since this study, there has been an increasing literature base validating likely cues to deception (see DePaulo et al., 2003).

Confidence in the beliefs held about cues to deception may be related to occupational experiences (Hart et al., 2010). Therapists have a unique profession in analyzing and processing human behavior. They are trained to attend to a variety of human behaviors within verbal and nonverbal domains. Therapists' experience, knowledge, and training with human behavior may instill a higher confidence in discerning deception. Similarly, professionals who had job experiences in which attending to human behavior was important (i.e., managers), rated their abilities to detect lies as significantly more confident than non-managers (Hart et al., 2006; 2010). In addition to therapists' beliefs and confidence in detecting deception, examining their attitudes towards deception may contribute to understanding the effects of deception in therapy.

### **Attitudes towards Deception**

Many therapists operate on their personal and professional values (Rønnestad, & Skovholt, 2003). While some therapists see the two domains separately others strive for

an integration of both. Whether therapists seek integration or distinct domains, they hold personal and professional values that influence their behaviors, decisions, and practice. Attitudes towards deception may also be influenced by how important therapists perceive deception to be within therapy based on personal and professional values. These attitudes may affect behaviors (Bentler & Speckart, 1979; Fishbein & Ajzen, 1974) of therapists in interacting with clients who lie.

#### Personal Values

Many people do not prefer to be on the receiving end of a lie (Miller, Perlman, & Brehm, 2007). Therapists, like other people in their personal lives, seek honesty in most social relationships and dislike being the recipient of deceit (Kottler & Carlson, 2011). Having a partner lie about finances or infidelity may elicit anger from a therapist in her or his personal life.

#### Professional Values

The professional values therapists embrace are reflective of how honesty is valued (APA, 2002; 2010). Therapists appear to value honesty through various practices and policies. These values may be displayed within therapy through therapeutic processes such as transparency or even explicitly communicated. Honesty can be found within ethics, informed consent, and research practices.

The APA's (2002/2010) code of ethics suggests that psychologists adhere to five core principles: (a) beneficence and nonmaleficence, (b) fidelity and responsibility, (c) integrity, (d) justice, and (e) respect for people's rights and dignity. All of these ethical

principles encompass being honest and truthful. Specifically, integrity is often defined as the quality of being honest. These ethical principles often permeate many psychological practices. The APA ethical principles and code of ethics states that it "applies only to psychologists' activities that are part of their scientific, educational, or professional roles as psychologists" (p. 1061).

Informed consent is crucial for beginning therapy by informing clients about the process of therapy and it is an ethically commanded practice (APA, 2002/2010). The informed consent promotes positive treatment outcome through enhanced client autonomy and empowerment (Beahrs & Gutheil, 2001). Therapists are to discuss their theoretical orientations, style of practice, expectations of therapy, fees, session lengths, and answer questions that clients may have. Discussing all of these matters prior to therapy is a way of truthfully informing the client of expectations for therapy. After being informed, the client makes a decision about beginning therapy. Lying about any area within the informed consent would be unethical and misleading of the client. Thus, informed consent reflects therapist values by modeling honesty before therapy begins. Outside of therapy, honesty can be found in other practices.

Research practices also must follow policies of honesty (APA, 2002; 2010).

Therapists are expected to inform participants of the nature of any study and obtain permission from them to be included in the study. Some deception can be implemented in

research as long as it is not harmful for the participants and the participants were informed of the deception before including the data in the research study.

# Importance of Deception in Therapy

The importance of deception may be an area that has been neglected in literature pertaining to therapy, counseling, clinical psychology, and psychiatry (see Reed, 1996). There may be various reasons that therapists do not perceive client deception as an important area for discussion, research, and training. DePaulo and colleagues (2003) stated "There are only a few studies in which people have been asked how they feel about the lies they tell in their everyday lives [and] the results suggest that people regard their everyday lies as little lies of little consequence or regret" (p. 76). Deception may be perceived as an area of little importance because it occurs so frequently and affects everyone. Thus, therapists who do not view deception as an area of interest may believe that lies are normative and generally are of little consequence.

Another reason that deception may not be considered important is due to the dissemination of knowledge about deception (Kottler & Carlson, 2011). The limited literature about deception and therapy suggests that deception should not be a primary concern for therapists. Literature which suggests that therapists are not interrogators, professional lie detectors, or even trained to detect deception, and that they should accept lying as a part of therapy (Kottler & Carlson, 2011), may contribute to lack of research and understanding deception in therapy.

If deception in therapy is considered an important construct, then perceived importance may vary depending on which therapist you ask. Some therapists may state that honesty is crucial for therapeutic growth, the relationship, as well as therapeutic outcome. Other therapists may be inclined to take a constructivist view (Prochaska & Norcross, 2010) and believe that there is no truth in therapy. Constructivists may operate from the assumption that therapists only know what clients tell them or that truth and falsehoods have no bearing on therapeutic work. However, deception exists in the world, at least as one person attempting to intentionally create a false belief in another. Stating that a therapist may never know if a client is lying is a likely claim. Therapists could be duped and never be the wiser. Though therapists may not be aware of deception within therapy, this does not extend to concluding that deception has no effects within therapy. Deception affects relationships and therapy is all about the relationship. In fact, even undetected deception damages relationships (Sagarin et al., 1998).

The psychotherapy theories by which therapists operate are the driving forces of practice. Theory often informs practice and establishes philosophical assumptions about the nature of humankind. The abundance of psychotherapy theories reflects the variety of philosophical views of human behavior. Theories hold differing perspectives on lying and its importance. Thus, psychotherapy theories should be examined when determining the importance of deception within therapy.

### Purpose of the Study

There has only been one study that investigated therapists' attention to beliefs about cues to deception (Briggs, 1992). The design employed an open-question method to explore therapists' beliefs. However, there has been much literature outside the therapy domain that reveals nonverbal, verbal, and paraverbal indicators to deception (e.g., DePaulo et al., 2003; Vrij, 2008). There is no research which has investigated therapists' beliefs about cues to deception by utilizing a closed-question method based on the discovered nonverbal, verbal, and paraverbal indicators.

Based on findings of beliefs about deception within the workplace (Hart et al., 2006; 2010) and generally inaccurate beliefs held about deception (see Vrij, 2008), it is important to investigate therapist's beliefs and confidence in detecting deception. With the emphasis of deception detection in the literature and the dearth of research examining attitudes towards liars, it is important to explore therapists' attitudes towards deceit.

Many false beliefs about indicators to deception are perpetuated through police literature and other sources (Vrij, 2008). Professionals who are exposed to lies hold a number of false beliefs about indicators to deception (Hart et al., 2006, 2010). Similar to other professionals, therapists will hold a number of false beliefs about deception. Many therapists interact with people on a daily basis and one of their tasks is to detect discrepancies in client behavior (Ivey & Ivey 2003). Behavioral discrepancies may serve as indicators for detecting deception. Furthermore, some studies have revealed that therapists have higher accuracy ratings in detecting deception (Briggs, 1992; Ekman et

al., 1999). Therefore, it was predicted that therapists would use more valid nonverbal than verbal and paraverbal cues to detect deception. Therapists are trained to specifically attend to human behaviors and interact with humans in numerous situations and with a variety of concerns.

Most people dislike being the target of deception. According to Möllering (2009), people may intuit that "trust is good and deception is bad [which] matches the primary moral connotations of trust and deception" (p. 138). Due to perceptions of deception and the consequences of being duped in everyday life (DePaulo et al., 1996), in relationships (see Miller et al., 2007), and in therapy (Kottler & Calrson, 2011), people may hold negative attitudes towards liars. The attitudes that people hold can be predictive of future behavior (Bentler & Speckart, 1979; Fishbein & Ajzen, 1974). Therapists' behavior is often structured based on their values and attitudes (Rønnestad, & Skovholt, 2003). Thus, it is important to investigate the attitudes that therapists hold towards lies. It was predicted that therapists would hold negative attitudes towards clients who lie.

# Relevance to the Field of Counseling Psychology

The current research enhances the field of counseling psychology by shedding light on the dynamics of deception in therapy. Deception is a common phenomenon and has been mostly investigated in basic research (see Vrij, 2008) or applied to intimate relationships (see Miller et al., 2007) or forensic areas (see Granhag & Strömwall, 2004). The presence of deception within therapy has been documented among various psychotherapists, in which therapists have discovered a variety of client lies (see Kottler

& Carlson, 2011). However, there is limited research pertaining to the intersection of deception with therapy and counseling psychology (e.g., Briggs, Ekman et al., 1999). The current research will attempt to contribute to two disciplines by further bridging social psychology with counseling and clinical psychology.

Counseling psychology distinguishes itself from other specialties in psychology by emphasizing the values of clients' strengths, cultural concerns, vocational assessment, and developmental issues (APA, 1999; Benjamin & Baker, 2004). Deception is pervasive across cultures (Bond & Atoum, 2000; Bond, et al., 1990) and stems from early development (Sodian, 1991).

The current research also attempts to contribute to the history and promise of interfacing social psychology with counseling psychology (Strong, Welsh, Corcoran, Hoyt, 1992). Counseling psychology has a history of applying social psychological principles to counseling, specifically with therapeutic processes (Strong et al., 1992). Exploring the nuances of deception in therapy serves counseling psychology, specifically, through adding to the knowledge base of therapeutic processes regarding an overlooked variable. Broadly, the current research benefits counseling psychology through promoting the interface of social and counseling psychology.

Therapy, as defined by Corsini and Wedding (2005), involves interaction between two parties. Client deception in therapy can introduce many variables which may affect the course of therapy. How deception is used in therapy, understood, and its effects on the clients and therapists are areas that benefit from increased attention to investigation.

Understanding the nature of deception in therapy may strengthen therapeutic relationships, increase positive outcomes, provide further insight for therapists, and enhance training models. Knowledge about therapists' beliefs and attitudes about deception specifically adds to the understanding of deception's role in therapy.

# Research Questions and Hypotheses

Question 1. How accurate are therapists' beliefs about cues to deception?

**Hypothesis 1A.** It was predicted that therapists would hold beliefs that behavior changes as an indicator of deception.

**Hypothesis 1B.** It was predicted that therapists would hold a number of false beliefs about actual indicators of deception.

**Question 2.** Do therapists hold more accurate beliefs about nonverbal indicators than verbal or paraverbal indicators?

**Hypothesis 2.** It was predicted that therapists would hold more accurate beliefs about nonverbal indicators of deception than verbal or paraverbal indicators of deception.

Question 3. What attitudes will therapists have towards clients who lie?

**Hypothesis 3.** It was predicted that therapists would hold negative attitudes towards clients who lie

**Question 4.** Does a relationship exist between therapists' worldviews and attitudes towards client deception?

**Hypothesis 4.** It was predicted that a relationship would exist between a positivist worldview and attitudes towards deception. More specifically, it was predicted that there

would be a positive correlation between therapists who endorse a positivist worldview and negative attitudes towards client deception.

#### CHAPTER III

#### METHOD

This section examines the participant criteria and demographics, the various instrumentation utilized, the procedure of the study, and the hypotheses and statistical design.

### **Participants**

The sample size for the current study was calculated by using G\*Power (Faul, Erdfelder, Buchner, & Lang, 2009). For computing a priori sample size with parameters of an effect size of .5, alpha .05, the sample size needed is 45. For computing a one-way ANOVA with effect size f of .25, alpha .05, 1 group, with 3 measurements, the sample size needed was 43.

The current study recruited 112 participants. Eligibility requirements for participants included: (a) at least 18 years old in order to consent to participate in the study, (b) must have completed at least one practicum course, and (c) were currently in training or have completed training in a counseling or clinical psychology field.

### Demographics

All participants were contacted and recruited through the use of an APA internship database. The participants ranged in age from 25 to 69 years old (M = 37.5, SD = 12.35). The majority of participants were female (see Table 3).

Table 3

Sex of the Participants

Sex	n	Percentage	
Female	65	69.9	
Male	28	30.1	
Intersex	0	0	

Further, the majority of participants identified their gender as woman (Table 4).

Table 4

Gender of the Participants

Gender	n	Percentage	
Woman	64	68.8	
Man	28	30.1	
Transgender	0	0	

Note: Frequencies not adding to 93 and percentages not adding to 100% reflect missing data

The participants represented a range of ethnicities/races. The majority of participants were Caucasian/European American (see Table 5).

Race/Ethnicity of the Participants

Table 5

Ruce/Elimitery of the Turticipants			
Race/Ethnicity	n	Percentage	
Caucasian/European American	69	74.2	
Multi racial	7	7.5	
African American	6	6.5	
Asian/Asian American/Pacific Islander	4	4.3	
Biracial	3	3.2	
Hispanic/Latina/Latino	2	2.2	
Other	2	2.2	

Note: Approximately 2% of participants identified as "Other" and specified their race/ethnicity as Middle Eastern and a combination of Caucasian/European American and Biracial

The highest degree earned by the majority of participants was a Ph.D. (see Table

6). Table 6

Highest Degree Farned

Degree	n	Percentage	
Ph.D.	44	47.3	
Master's degree	35	37.6	
Psy.D.	14	15.1	

The majority of participants were trained within a clinical psychology graduate program (see Table 7).

Table 7

Training Program

Program	n	Percentage	
Clinical Psychology	59	63.4	
Counseling Psychology	25	26.9	

Note: Frequencies not adding to 93 and percentages not adding to 100% reflect missing data

The vast majority of participants did not hold any licenses but of the licenses held, the majority of participants were Licensed Psychologists (see Table 8).

Table 8

Licenses Held

License	n	Percentage	
No license	52	55.9	_
Licensed Psychologist	38	40.9	
Licensed Professional Counselor	2	2.2	
Multiple Licenses	1	1.1	

Note: One participant identified holding more than one license, in which the participant was a Licensed Psychologist and Licensed Marriage and Family Therapist.

A majority of the participants' current therapy work setting was at Veterans Affairs (see Table 9).

Table 9

Current Therapy Work Setting

Work Setting	n	Percentage	
Veterans Affairs	38	40.9	
Counseling Center	20	21.5	
Hospital	16	17.2	
Military	10	10.8	
Other	9	9.7	

*Note:* Of the nine participants who selected the "Other" category, six specified their current work setting as community mental health and the other three specified agency, outpatient medical setting, and residential treatment center.

Participants' identified a variety of theoretical orientations. Three theoretical orientations were equally represented: cognitive, psychodynamic/interpersonal, and integrationist/eclectic (see Table 10).

Table 10

Theoretical Orientation

Theoretical Orientation	n	Percentage	
Cognitive	20	21.5	
Psychodynamic/Interpersonal	20	21.5	
Integrationist/Eclectic	20	21.5	
Other	14	15.1	
Behavioral	6	6.5	
Humanistic/Existential/Experiential	4	4.3	
Family/Systems	3	3.2	
Solution-Focused	2	2.2	
Narrative	2	2.2	
Feminist/Multicultural	2	2.2	

Note: Of the 14 participants who selected the "Other" category, seven specified their theoretical orientation as cognitive behavioral, two specified biopsychosocial, one specified cognitive-behavioral therapy/acceptance and commitment therapy, one specified acceptance and commitment therapy/mindfulness, one specified Adlerian Therapy, and one did not specify.

Table 11 displays participants' worldviews, which were measured on a 7 point Likert-type rating scale (1 = not at all, 7 = very much).

Table 11

Therapists' Worldviews

Worldview	n	Mean (SD)	
Positivist	93	3.52 (1.44)	100
Constructivist	93	5.18 (1.31)	

The participants' years of counseling experience ranged from less than 1 year to 40 years (M = 10.44, SD = 9.54). In asking participants to identify the approximate amount of direct hours that they have accrued in therapy there were 66 valid cases

ranging from 25 hours to 36,000 (M = 3370.83, SD = 5000.80). Some participants did not report how many direct hours that they have accumulated. Some of this missing data may be due to asking participants to recall an approximation of the amount of direct client hours they have accrued from their counseling experiences.

Table 12 displays participants' experience and training with deception, which was measured on a 7 point Likert-type rating scale (1 = none, 7 = very much)

Table 12

Therapist Training and Experience with Deception

Training Variable	n	Mean (SD)	
Amount of deception literature read	93	2.78 (1.59)	10
Training with client deception	93	2.95 (1.63)	
Training with deception detection	92	2.82 (1.77)	

#### Instrumentation

The current study used three instruments: Demographics Questionnaire, the Detection of Deception Questionnaire, and the Therapist Attitudes Towards Deception Scale. All instruments were utilized to further understand therapists' beliefs and attitudes towards deception.

# **Demographics Questionnaire**

Participants were asked to complete the Demographics Questionnaire (Appendix A). The questionnaire asked participants to provide information about age, sex, gender, ethnicity and race, education, licensure, theoretical orientation, therapeutic work setting.

worldview, estimated number of hours spent with clients, years of counseling experience, and previous training experiences with deception.

### **Detection of Deception Questionnaire**

Participants were asked to complete a Detection of Deception Questionnaire (DDQ; Appendix B). The questionnaire was an adaptation of the questionnaire developed by Hart and colleagues (2006; 2010). The DDQ was developed as a closed-question questionnaire to assess managers and non-managers beliefs about cues to deception and confidence in detecting deception. The questionnaire asked participants for demographic information, amount of managerial experience, beliefs about cues to deception, and confidence in detecting deception. The researchers used a 7 point Likert-type rating scale for managers and non-managers to indicate their beliefs regarding various changes in behavior that occur when lying (1 = significant decrease in behavior, 4 = no change in behavior, 7 = significant increase in behavior). The scale was used to compare participants' responses to a non-behavioral change. This measure was adapted to meet the needs of the current study.

The DDQ, used in the current study, consisted of 30 items total. The questionnaire consisted of a 7 point Likert-type rating scale that asks participants to indicate various changes in behavior (1 = significant decrease in behavior, 4 = no change in behavior, 7 = significant increase in behavior) in response to detecting deception. The questionnaire also consisted of a 7 point Likert-type rating scale to indicate the level of confidence in

detecting deception (1 = not confident at all, 7 = extremely confident) and how often participants thought clients lie to them (1 = very rarely, 7 = very often).

The first two items asked participants to rate their confidence in detecting client deception and the frequency of lies that clients tell. The subsequent 28 items asked participants to indicate their beliefs about actual indicators of deception. The questionnaire contained 10 items related to distinct nonverbal behaviors and 18 items regarding verbal and paraverbal indicators. The 10 nonverbal indicators were the following: (a) eye contact, (b) eye blinks, (c) head movements, (d) hand and finger movements, (e) arm movements, (f) leg and foot movements, (g) smiles, (h) postural shifts, (i) shrugs, and (i) gestures. The 18 verbal and paraverbal indicators were as follows: (a) speech interruptions, (b) pauses, (c) latency to respond, (d) hectic pitch, (e) speech, (f) answer length, (g) short simple sentences, (h) plausible descriptions, (i) logical consistency, (j) detailed description, (k) unusual detail, (l) unnecessary detail, (m) description of feelings, (n) reporting what another had said, (o) describing interactions with others, (p) spontaneous corrections, (q) reporting a lack of memory for information, and (r) story contradictions. Participants were asked to indicate whether each of the specific behaviors increase, decrease, or remain the same when clients lie.

# Therapist Attitudes Towards Deception Scale

The Therapist Attitudes Towards Deception Scale (TATDS; Appendix C) was constructed by the author to assess various attitudes therapists held towards clients who lie. The questionnaire consisted of 48 items which assessed attitudes towards clients who

lie in therapy. The initial 12 items were constructed by the author and asked participants to indicate on a 9 point Likert-type rating scale (1 = decrease, 5 = no change, 9 = increase) how their attitudes would change if a client's lie was discovered in therapy. These items were developed to measure therapists' specific and contextual attitudes towards clients who lie within the therapy.

The next 12 items were adapted from a scale that was constructed to measured physicians' attitudes towards patients who were obese (Foster et al., 2003). The scale was subsequently used to measure physical therapists' attitudes towards patients who were obese (Sack, Radler, Mairella, Tougher-Decker, & Khan, 2009). Foster and colleagues developed a scale of nine semantically differential items to measure physicians' attitudes about personal characteristics of people who were obese. The authors used a 7 point Likert-type scale to measure to opposing personal characteristics, such as "unpleasant" and "pleasant." The authors utilized the scale for descriptive statistics and did not include reliability or validity data.

The current study asked participants to endorse attitudes towards clients who lie in therapy compared to clients who do not lie in therapy based on adjectives used by Foster and colleagues. The 12 items asked participants to endorse attitudes towards clients who lie in therapy based on a 7 point Likert-type rating scale (e.g., 1 = Not very successful, 7 = Very successful). The 12 items consisted of a mix of positive (e.g., successful) and negative (e.g., weak) adjectives. They were randomly ordered within the

scale. These items were included to examine more global perceptions of the attributes of clients who lie.

The TATDS contained two subscales: (a) specific and (b) global. The specific attitudes subscale measured attitudes toward discovering a client's lie in therapy (items 1-12 on the TATDS); whereas global attitudes subscale measured attitudes towards clients who lie (items 13-24 on the TATDS; see Appendix C). Table 13 shows the internal consistency of each of these scales and the combined scales into a total attitude score.

Table 13

Internal Consistencies of TATDS

Scale	Mean (SD)	Range	а
Specific Attitudes	44.85 (3.70)	12-84	0.81
Global Attitudes	52.38 (6.94)	12-108	0.65
Total Attitude Score	97.08 (9.14)	24-192	0.83

Additional items were generated by the author for exploratory purposes. The remaining 24 items were related to participants' suspicion of clients, importance of honesty, self-reported deception behaviors, and perceptions of honesty in therapy on a 7 point Likert-type rating scale (1 = Not at all, 7 = Very much). The final item asked participants to indicate the percentage of clients they assume have lied during the course of their work in therapy.

#### Procedure

The various instruments that were used in the study to collect data were uploaded on Psychdata, which is a website designed for hosting online surveys (Locke & Keiser-

Clark, 2012). Then, an Excel database was constructed from accessing contact information from the Association of Psychology Postdoctoral and Internship Centers (APPIC) online directory for internship programs. Under the program-related search options, the criteria for internship sites was APA accredited programs and programs who accepted applicants from clinical and counseling graduate programs. This search yielded 421 internship institutions. The name, training director's name, and contact email were collected from each of the various training sites and entered into an excel document.

Upon collecting contact information, the researcher sent individual emails to each training director at the various internship sites. The email denoted the purpose of the study (Appendix D), asked the director for participation in forwarding the email to current interns and/or staff, and also provided the link to the study. Upon selecting the link to the study, hosted through Psychdata, participants were initially presented with an informed consent form (Appendix E), which asked participants to read and click continue if they agreed to participate in the current study. The informed consent discussed the nature and purpose of the study, the eligibility requirements to participate, the potential risks and benefits to the participant, and the right to terminate participation. After reading and consenting to participate in the research study, the participants were asked to complete the Demographic Questionnaire (Appendix A), the Detection of Deception Questionnaire (DDQ; Appendix B), and the Therapists' Attitudes Towards Deception Scale (TATDS; Appendix C).

All emails were sent out over the span of one month as the contact information was entered into an excel document. Upon sending the last email, the researcher allowed two weeks for all participants to have an opportunity to complete the surveys. Then, data were downloaded from Psychdata and entered into the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS).

# Hypotheses and Statistical Design

The researcher gathered data from Psychdata and organized it into SPSS. Then the data was coded and analyses were conducted in SPSS.

### Research Questions and Hypotheses

Question 1. How accurate are therapists' beliefs about cues to deception?

Hypothesis 1A. It was predicted that therapists would hold beliefs that behavior changes as an indicator of deception. Therapists' beliefs about indicators of deception were compared to actual indicators of deception to determine the accuracy of therapists' beliefs. Using one-sample *t*-tests, each of the non-verbal, verbal, and paraverbal behavioral variables were analyzed individually to determine if therapists' beliefs about cues to deception differ significantly from a non-behavioral change, which would reveal that therapists believe certain behaviors change when clients are lying. A Bonferroni adjustment was applied to the analyses to avoid an increased Type I error, due to running multiple *t*-tests.

**Hypothesis 1B.** It was predicted that therapists would hold false beliefs about at least one indicator of deception. Therapists' beliefs about each of these behavioral

variables, whether a behavioral cue increased, decreased, or had no change, were compared to previous research findings on actual beliefs about indicators of deception. The label of the each belief (increase, decrease, or no change) was compared to actual indicators to reveal the accuracy of therapists' beliefs. The frequency of accurate beliefs, determined by a match in belief label (i.e., increase, decrease, or no change) was reported.

**Question 2.** Do therapists hold more accurate beliefs about nonverbal indicators than verbal or paraverbal indicators?

**Hypothesis 2.** It was predicted that therapists would hold more accurate beliefs about nonverbal indicators than verbal or paraverbal indicators.

The number of accurate beliefs was calculated for each participant and for each indicator category: verbal, paraverbal, and nonverbal. Then, a percentage of accurate beliefs for each indicator category was calculated for each participant. A one-way repeated measures ANOVA was used to compare the percentages of each indicator category. A priori planned comparisons was used to test the hypothesis that therapists would hold more accurate beliefs about nonverbal indicators of deception compared to verbal and paraverbal indicators.

Question 3. What attitudes would therapists have towards clients who lie?

Hypothesis 3. It was predicted that therapists will hold negative attitudes towards clients who lie.

The Therapists' Attitudes Towards Deception Scale was used to assess therapists' attitudes towards clients who lie. Items related to attitudes towards discovering a client's lie (1-12) were assessed by using one-sample *t*-tests for each of the 12 items to determine if therapists' ratings would demonstrate a statistically significant difference from a 5 rating, which would indicate an attitude change. Items related to attitudes towards clients who lie in therapy (13-24) were assessed by using one-sample *t*-tests for each of the 12 items to determine if therapists' ratings would demonstrate a statistically significant difference from a 4 rating, which would indicate an attitude change. Similar to the Hypothesis 1A, a Bonferroni adjustment was applied to the analyses to avoid an increased Type I error.

**Question 4.** Does a relationship exist between therapists' worldviews and attitudes towards client deception?

Hypothesis 4. It was predicted that a relationship would exist between a positivist worldview and attitudes towards deception. More specifically, it was predicted that there would be a positive correlation between therapists who endorse a positivist worldview and negative attitudes towards client deception.

Three correlation analyses were conducted to investigate the relationship between therapists' worldviews and their attitudes towards clients who lie. Bivariate correlations were conducted with each worldview score (i.e., positivist and constructivist) and the total attitude score. Also, a worldview score was obtained through subtracting the

constructivist rating from the positivist rating. A bivariate correlation was run to test the relationship between the worldview score and the total attitude score.

### CHAPTER IV

#### RESULTS

Data was reviewed prior to analyses to determine exclusion procedures for any cases of missing data. After determining the data to be included in analyses, the statistical findings from the major research hypotheses are presented. Last, exploratory analyses are noted

### Preliminary Analyses

The current study recruited a total of 112 participants. Of the 112 participants nine participants agreed to participate in the study and did not complete any of the subsequent items. Thus, those nine participants were excluded from any analyses. Participants who did not complete information beyond the Demographics Questionnaire were not included in the statistical analyses, as the major hypotheses were specific to items beyond the Demographics Questionnaire. The total number of participants who were included in the statistical analyses of hypotheses was 93. Some data were also missing in a few areas of the various instruments. Any missing data was excluded from analyses. However, cases involving partial missing data were included in the analyses due to the effects not compromising statistical power and due to data representing one sample, therapists. The data were also examined for normality through the use of Normal Q-Q plots for each of the beliefs about indicators of deception and attitudes towards client deception. Skewness for every indicator and attitude score was less than one and kurtosis was less than three.

Outlier data was investigated to detect if there were consistencies in cases that endorsed extreme scores on each item, indicating a possible infrequency in response. There was no datum that consistently had extreme values on every item. Due to the current study investigating attitudes and beliefs, cases reflecting extreme values were included to reflect extreme values of attitudes or beliefs.

# Analyses of Hypotheses

The current research project investigated four major research questions. Each research question and its hypothesis will be reported in this section.

### Research Questions and Hypotheses

Question 1. How accurate are therapists' beliefs about cues to deception?

Hypothesis 1A. It was hypothesized that therapists would hold beliefs that behavior changes as an indicator of deception and a number of beliefs held will be discrepant from actual indicators of deception. First, one-sample *t*-tests were conducted on each of the 28 indicators of deception to determine if therapists' ratings were significantly different from 4, which would indicate that beliefs that behavior changes when clients lie. To avoid an increased Type I error due to running multiple *t*-tests, a Bonferroni adjustment was applied (Bonferroni correction = .002). Then, these beliefs were compared to actual indicators of deception to discern the accuracy of therapists' beliefs. A majority of beliefs held by therapists (71%) about indicators of deception was that behavior changes when lying (see Table 14). Of the 28 indicators of deception,

therapists believed that many (68%) behaviors increase as indicators of deception. This hypothesis was supported by the data.

Hypothesis 1B. It was predicted that therapists would hold false beliefs about at least one indicators of deception. Among the 28 indicators of deception, therapists held accurate beliefs about four indicators: (a) pitch, (b) latency, (c) logical consistency, and (d) describing interactions with others (see Table 14). This hypothesis was supported.

Therapists' Beliefs About Lying-related Changes in Behavior Compared to a "No Change" Rating of 4.0

Table 14

Deception Variable	Mean (SD)	t	Belief	Prior Research
Nonverbal Indicators				
Eye contact	3.06 (1.14)	-7.91*	Decrease	No change
Eye blinks	4.74 (0.99)	7.12*	Increase	No change
Head movements	4.29 (1.03)	2.72	Increase	No change
Hand and finger movements	4.65 (1.07)	5.83*	Increase	Decrease
Arm movements	4.13 (0.89)	1.40	No change	Decrease
Leg and foot movements	4.77 (0.96)	7.68*	Increase	Decrease
Smiles	4.26 (1.01)	2.47	Increase	No change
Postural shifts	5.06 (0.95)	10.77*	Increase	No change
Shrugs	4.35 (0.85)	4.00*	Increase	No change
Gestures	4.38 (0.91)	4.00*	Increase	No change
Paraverbal Indicators				
Speech interruptions	4.77 (0.93)	7.88*	Increase	No change
Pauses	4.67 (0.98)	6.54*	Increase	No change
Latency to respond	4.60 (1.15)	5.00*	Increase	Increase
Hectic speech	4.58 (0.95)	5.80*	Increase	No change
Pitch	4.71 (0.82)	8.39*	Increase	Increase
Answer length	4.69 (1.29)	5.13*	Increase	No change
Verbal Indicators				
Short simple sentences	3.42 (I.10)	-5.11*	Decrease	Increase
Plausible descriptions	4.04 (1.22)	0.34	No change	Decrease
Logical consistency	3.34 (1.05)	-6.05*	Decrease	Decrease
Detailed description	4.32 (1.35)	2.31	Increase	Decrease
Unusual detail	4.72 (1.12)	6.22*	Increase	No change

Cont'd

Unnecessary detail	4.86 (1.15)	7.08*	Increase	No change
Description of feelings	3.46 (1.11)	-4.68*	Decrease	No change
Describe what someone said	3.95 (1.23)	-0.42	No change	Decrease
Description of interactions	3.84 (1.15)	-1.35	No change	No change
Spontaneous corrections	4.03 (1.31)	0.24	No change	Decrease
Claim lack of memory	4.74 (1.06)	6.74*	Increase	Decrease
Story contradictions	5.08 (1.01)	10.24*	Increase	No change

Note: \* p<.002

**Question 2.** Do therapists hold more accurate beliefs about nonverbal indicators than verbal or paraverbal indicators?

**Hypothesis 2.** It was predicted that therapists would hold more accurate beliefs about nonverbal indicators than verbal or paraverbal indicators. A one-way repeated measures ANOVA was used to compare the percentages of each deception indicator category. Results revealed a statistically significant difference for therapists' accuracy of beliefs between the indicators of deception, F(2,91) = 11.8, p < .001. More specifically, therapists held a higher percentage of accurate beliefs about paraverbal indicators (M = 0.39, SD = 0.19) than nonverbal indicators (M = 0.29, SD = 0.19; p < .001) and verbal indicators (M = 0.29, SD = 0.13; p < .001).

Question 3. What attitudes will therapists have towards clients who lie?

Hypothesis 3. It was predicted that therapists would hold negative attitudes towards clients who lie. One-sample *t*-tests were conducted on each of the items related to attitudes towards discovering a client's lie (items 1-12 on TATDS) to determine if therapists' ratings demonstrated a statistically significant difference from a 5 rating.

which would indicate an attitude change. A Bonferroni adjustment was utilized in the analyses (Bonferroni correction = .004). A statistically significant difference was found among 8 of the 12 attitude items, in which all 8 attitudes were negative (see Table 15). The 8 negative attitudes were: (a) decrease in liking the client, (b) increase in thinking negatively of client, (c) decrease in desire to interact with client, (d) decrease in enthusiasm to work with client, (e) decrease in judging client as a good client, (f) decrease in trusting the client, (g) decrease in thinking positively about client, and (h) decrease in viewing client as sincere.

Table 15

Therapists' Attitudes in Discovering a Client's Lie (Specific Attitudes Scale)

#	Attitude Item	n	Mean (SD)	t	Attitude Change
1	Liking the client	89	4.19 (0.98)	-7.823*	Decrease
2	Being angry at the client RC	89	5.24 (0.81)	2.741	Increase
3	Client as a bad person RC	89	4.83 (0.82)	-1.951	Decrease
4	Thinking negatively of client RC	87	5.31 (0.99)	2.918*	Increase
5	Judging client harshly RC	89	5.01 (0.96)	0.11	No change
6	Desire to interact with client	89	4.35 (1.24)	-4.942*	Decrease
7	Enthusiasm to work with client	89	4.21 (1.17)	-6.308*	Decrease
8	Judging client as a good client	89	4.35 (1.02)	-6.006*	Decrease
9	Speaking poorly of client RC	89	5.17 (0.93)	1.706	No change
10	Trusting the client	89	3.30 (1.14)	-14.013*	Decrease
11	Thinking positively about client	88	4.28 (0.90)	-7.493*	Decrease
12	Viewing client as sincere	89	3.43 (1.15)	-12.938*	Decrease

Note: \* p<.004

RC: Indicates a reverse coding.

One-sample *t*-tests were also conducted on each of the items related to attitudes towards clients who lie in therapy compared to clients who do not lie in therapy (items

13-24 on TATDS) to determine if therapists' ratings demonstrated a statistically significant difference from a 4 rating, which would indicate an attitude change. A Bonferroni adjustment was utilized in the analyses (Bonferroni correction = .004). A statistically significant difference was found among 5 of the 12 attitude items, in which all 5 were negative attitudes (see Table 16). The 5 negative attitudes were: (a) decrease in successfulness, (b) decrease in compliance, (c) decrease in pleasantness, (d) decrease in likableness, and (e) decrease in being adjusted.

Table 16

Therapists' Attitudes Towards Clients who Lie in Therapy (Global Attitudes Scale)

#	Attitude Item	n	Mean (SD)	1	Attitude Change
13	Successful	89	3.27 (0.88)	-7.865*	Decrease
14	Pathological RC	89	4.21 (0.79)	2.549	Increase
15	Weak RC	89	3.98 (0.59)	-0.363	No Change
16	Compliant	87	3.24 (0.92)	-7.737*	Decrease
17	Predictable	89	3.85 (0.92)	-1.512	No change
18	Pleasant	89	3.69 (0.60)	-4.859*	Decrease
19	Lazy RC	89	3.94 (0.47)	-1.149	No change
20	Awkward RC	89	4.09 (0.47)	1.812	No change
21	Knowledgeable	89	3.99 (0.51)	-0.207	No change
22	Intelligent	89	4.02 (0.40)	0.532	No change
23	Likable	88	3.50 (0.59)	-7.987*	Decrease
24	Adjusted	89	3.61 (0.83)	-4.301*	Decrease

Note: \* p<.004

RC: Indicates a reverse coding.

Therapists endorse negative attitudes towards discovering a client's lie in therapy as well as towards clients who lie in therapy. This hypothesis was supported.

**Question 4.** Does a relationship exist between therapists' worldviews and attitudes towards client deception?

**Hypothesis 4.** It was predicted that a relationship would exist between a positivist worldview and attitudes towards deception. More specifically, it was predicted that there would be a positive correlation between therapists who endorse a positivist worldview and negative attitudes towards client deception.

Three correlations were run to examine each worldview variable (i.e., positivist and constructivist) and a worldview score with the TATDS total attitude score. These analyses were conducted to examine each possible relationship between worldviews and attitudes. The worldview score was created to examine the difference between both worldview scales.

Bivariate correlations were run with each worldview variable and the TATDS total attitude score. There was not a statistically significant correlation found between the positivist worldview and the TATDS total attitude score, r = -0.04, df = 76, p = 0.74. Also, there was not a statistically significant correlation found between the constructivist worldview and the TADS total attitude score, r = 0.05, df = 76, p = 0.66.

The last analysis run was a bivariate correlation to test the relationship between a worldview score and the TATDS total attitude score. A worldview score was obtained through subtracting the constructivist rating from the positivist rating. There was not a statistically significant correlation found between the worldview score and the TATDS total attitude score, r = 0.06, df = 76, p = 0.61. Therapists' worldviews and their attitudes

towards client deception do not indicate a relationship. Therefore hypothesis 4 was not supported.

# **Exploratory Analyses**

Additional analyses were conducted to explore the data beyond the major hypotheses. Therapists held negative attitudes towards discovering a client's lie in therapy and towards clients who lie in therapy. After discovering that Hypothesis 3 was supported, an exploratory analysis was conducted to test the differences between the specific attitude scale and the global attitude scale. Due to the differences in range for each scale (i.e., 1-9 and 1-7), a sum of negative attitudes was computed for each scale. For the specific attitude scale, a negative attitude was calculated if the value of the item was less than a score of four.

A paired samples *t*-test was conducted to compare the number of negative attitudes held on the specific attitude scale to the global attitude scale. The results revealed a statistically significant difference; therapists endorsed more negative attitudes on the specific attitudes scale (M = 5.70, SD = 3.38) compared to the global attitude scale (M = 3.27, SD = 2.31; p < .001). Therefore, therapists held more negative attitudes towards discovering that a client was lying in therapy compared clients who lie.

The TATDS contained some items that asked participants to rate value and importance of honesty in therapy. An item asked participants to rate how much they valued honesty in therapy (1 = Not at all, 7 = Very much). Two other items asked how

important client honesty is for the therapeutic relationship and how important client honesty is for therapeutic outcome (1 = Not at all, 7 = Very important). Table 17 shows the means and standard deviations for these items.

Table 17

Therapist Ratings for Value and Importance of Honesty in Therapy

Item #	Item	n	Mean (SD)
33	Value honesty	88	5.43 (1.16)
34	Importance of honesty for relationship	87	5.11 (1.15)
35	Importance of honesty for outcome	87	5.17 (1.16)

A bivariate correlation was also conducted to investigate the relationship between the value of honesty in therapy and the importance of honesty for the therapeutic relationship and outcome. There was a statistically significant correlation found between how much therapist valued honesty and the importance of honesty for therapeutic relationship, r = 0.71, df = 86, p = .001, and outcome, r = 0.68, df = 86, p < .001. In other words, therapists who valued honesty viewed it as a necessary component for the therapeutic relationship and relates to therapy outcome.

The TATDS contained two items that asked therapists to identify when they believed that clients would be more likely to lie within the course of therapy (i.e., early or later). This exploration was based on research that indicates people tell less lies to those they feel more emotionally close (Vrij, 2000). A paired samples *t*-test was conducted to compare thinking clients lie in early sessions to thinking that clients lie in later sessions.

The results revealed a statistically significant difference; therapists believed clients lie are more likely to lie in early therapy sessions (M = 4.76, SD = 1.16) than in later therapy sessions (M = 3.34, SD = 1.040; p < .001). Therefore, therapists thought that clients are more likely to lie in the initial stages of therapy.

It was speculated that counseling experience might be related to attitudes towards client deception. A bivariate correlation between years of counseling experience and the total attitude score was calculated. There was not a statistically significant correlation found between years of counseling experience and the total attitude score was conducted, r = 0.01, df = 92, p = 0.90. Therefore, counseling experience was not related to attitudes towards client deception.

The TATDS also consisted of items that asked therapists to indicate how likely clients would lie about three different domains: emotions, behaviors, and thoughts (1 = Not at all, 7 = Very likely). A one-way repeated measures ANOVA compared the means of each of these three areas. Results revealed a statistically significant difference between therapists thoughts about client deception in these three domains, F(2.84) = 27.62, p < .001. More specifically, therapists believed that clients would be more likely to lie about behaviors (M = 5.30, SD = 1.14) than thoughts (M = 4.53, SD = 1.19; p < .001) and emotions (M = 4.25, SD = 1.27; p < .001).

#### CHAPTER V

#### DISCUSSION

In discussing the results from the current study, a discussion of findings is presented and integrated with previous literature pertaining to deception and therapy (e.g., Global Deception Research Team, 2006; Rønnestad, & Skovholt, 2003). The strengths of the current study are addressed. Then, limitations are considered and future directions suggested. Implications for research are discussed followed by implications for training, practice, and theory. Lastly, a conclusion is provided.

# Discussion of Findings

The findings from the current study are discussed and integrated with previous research findings. Research questions and corresponding hypotheses related to therapists' beliefs about indicators of deception and attitudes towards client deception is discussed.

# Research Questions and Hypotheses

Question 1. A series of analyses examined therapists' beliefs about indicators of deception. The findings supported Hypothesis 1A, which predicted that therapists would hold beliefs that behavior changes as an indicator of deception. A majority of therapists' beliefs (82%) were that behavior changes as an indicator of deception.

The findings that therapists held many beliefs that behavior changes when clients are deceptive are congruent with research findings that undergraduate university students, managers, police officers, and teachers believe that behaviors change when people are

deceptive (Colwell, Miller, Miller, & Lyons, 2006; Forrest et al., 2004; Hart, 2006; 2010; Reinhard, Dickhäuser, Marksteiner, & Sporer, 2011). Across cultures, people believe that behaviors change when people lie (Global Deception Research Team, 2006).

Results also supported Hypothesis 1B, which predicted that therapists would hold a number of inaccurate beliefs about indicators of deception. In the current study, therapists held accurate beliefs about 4 out of 28 indicators of deception. The large number of inaccurate beliefs is supported by other research (Vrij, 2008). Many people across cultures hold inaccurate beliefs (Global Deception Research Team, 2006).

The top two beliefs held, within 58 countries, are that liars avert their gaze and are nervous (Global Deception Research Team, 2006). These two beliefs are related to the current findings. Therapists held beliefs that eye contact decreased as an indicator of deception. Also, the majority of the therapists' beliefs (68%) about all 28 indicators of deception were that behavior increases. Other research has demonstrated similar results, in which officers' believe that behaviors increase when people lie (Colwell et al., 2006). The beliefs that behavior increases when clients lie may be indicative of commonly held beliefs that people are nervous when they lie (Global Deception Research Team, 2006; Vrij, 2008). An increase in many of the cues (e.g., higher pitched voice, less eye contact, speech hesitations) is often related to nervousness (Vrij, 2008).

Question 2. The second major research question examined whether therapists held more accurate beliefs about nonverbal indicators compared to verbal or paraverbal indicators. Hypothesis 2 predicted that therapists would hold more accurate beliefs about

nonverbal indicators of deception; however, Hypothesis 2 was not supported. Therapists, collectively, did not hold accurate beliefs for any of the nonverbal indicators of deception. Therapists' held the highest percentage of accurate beliefs about paraverbal indicators of deception.

Research that compared actual or objective nonverbal indicators to believed or subjective nonverbal indicators revealed that many beliefs about nonverbal indicators are inaccurate (Vrij, 2008). People often hold inaccurate beliefs about the diagnostic cues to deception, which are the cues that tend to change (Vrij, 2008). These nonverbal cues are (a) hand and finger movements, (b) arm movements, and (c) leg and foot movements (Vrij, 2008). All three of these diagnostic variables typically decrease; however, people often assume that hand and finger movements and leg and foot movements increase (Vrij, 2008).

The four beliefs that were accurately identified, by therapists in this study, as valid indicators of deception were: (a) pitch, (b) latency, (c) logical consistency, and (d) describing interactions with others. These findings match similar findings from a study that investigated managers' and non-managers beliefs about verbal and paraverbal indicators of deception (Hart et al., 2010). Hart and colleagues found that managers and undergraduate students accurately identified 3 out of the 18 verbal and paraverbal indicators of deception: (a) pitch, (b) latency, (c) and logical consistency. These three indicators were the same indicators accurately identified in the current study, with the additional indicator of describing interactions with others. Therapists' beliefs about cues

to deception appear to share some overlap between with managers and undergraduate students. Previous research hypothesized occupational differences in deception detection due to particular training or increased occupational exposure to deception (Colwell et al., 2006; Hart et al., 2006; Reinhard et al., 2011). These studies indicated that occupational differences do not contribute to increased accuracy of beliefs about cues to deception. This may suggest that beliefs about indicators of deception may precede occupational training and stem from other sources, such as cultural stereotypes of liars (Global Research Team, 2006).

A few reasons may explain the findings that therapists did not hold many accurate beliefs about cues to deception. Culturally constructed stereotypes about liars, therapists' training, and interest in deception detection may be some reasons for understanding the current findings (Colwell et al., 2006; Ekman et al., 1999; Global Research Team, 2006; Vrij, 2008). These reasons may also support the notion that similar beliefs about cues to deception are held across professions.

Three explanations have been proposed for the construction of the stereotype of a liar (Vrij, 2008). One explanation suggested a moral explanation of beliefs that lying-is-bad (Global Deception Research Team, 2006; Vrij, 2008). This moral explanation of the stereotype construction is based on beliefs that when people lie they should feel ashamed or nervous and avert their gaze (Vrij, 2008). A second explanation of the development of liar stereotypes is referred to as the exposure explanation (Vrij, 2008). This explanation suggests that popular media influences beliefs of what a liar looks like. Lastly, the

accusation explanation suggests that in accusing people as liars they become nervous and engage in behaviors such as gaze aversion (Vrij, 2008).

Beliefs related to stereotypes of a liar are often not indicative of actual cues to deception, such as gaze aversion (Global Research Team, 2006). Stereotypical beliefs about liars may be the contributing factor for understanding inaccurate beliefs about indicators of deception across occupations (Colwell et al., 2006; Hart et al., 2006) and finding no relationship between occupational experience and detection accuracy (DePaulo & Pfeifer, 1986). In the current study, deeply held stereotypical beliefs about liars may have been the reason that therapists held a number of inaccurate beliefs about cues to deception. Therefore, beliefs about indicators of deception might be better predicted by constructed stereotypes of a liar rather than occupational experience.

In the current study, therapists reported, on average, minimal training in client deception or deception detection. Not having the proper training regarding accurate cues to indicators of deception and dispelling myths of deception may maintain inaccurate beliefs (Colwell et al., 2006). Having a vested interest in deception may increase accurate beliefs about cues to deception. Along with minimal training, therapists in the current study reported having read minimal literature pertaining to deception. Therapists who have an interest in deception may read more deception literature or seek deception workshops and seminars. Previous literature on the accuracy of deception detection in therapists revealed that clinical psychologists who had an interest in deception demonstrated a statistically significant difference in detecting deception compared to

clinical psychologists with no interest in deception (Ekman et al., 1999). Thus, interest in deception and its detection might yield more accurate beliefs about indicators of deception. Therapists who dedicate time to reading deception literature, attending deception presentations, and discussing client deception with colleagues and supervisors would learn about actual indicators of deception.

Question 3. Other analyses were conducted to examine therapists' attitudes towards client deception. Hypothesis 3, predicting that therapists would possess more negative attitudes towards clients who lie in therapy, was supported. Therapists' attitudes towards discovering a client's lie had demonstrated statistically significant changes for 10 of the 12 attitudes. Nine of the 10 attitudes were negative. Six out of 12 attitudes towards clients who lie in therapy compared to clients who do not lie in therapy revealed a statistically significant change. The six changes in attitudes were negative.

Therapists held a number of negative attitudes towards client deception. These negative attitudes may be a result of therapists' personal and professional values.

Therapists' professional development is influenced from an integration of personal and professional experiences (Rønnestad & Skovholt, 2003). As therapists develop, they create a therapy role that becomes congruent with personal values and attitudes (Rønnestad, & Skovholt, 2003). Some reasons that people have negative attitudes towards liars are that people generally assume that most interactions are honest (Bond & DePaulo, 2006) and typically do not like to be the target of deception (Kottler & Carlson, 2011; Miller, Perlman, & Brehm, 2007). Liars are viewed as less pleasant and less

cooperative compared to truth-tellers (DePaulo & Morris, 2004). In addition to personal values and attitudes, therapists are professionally encouraged to value honesty and avoid deception towards clients and research participants, as noted in the APA Code (APA, 2002; 2010).

Question 4. The last major research question examined the relationship between therapists' worldview and attitudes toward client deception. Hypothesis 4 predicted that there would be a positive correlation between therapists who endorse a positivist worldview and negative attitudes towards client deception. Hypothesis 4 was not supported. There was no statistically significant relationship between worldviews and attitudes towards client deception.

Therapists negative attitudes may stem from personal and professional values previously noted rather than from an endorsed therapeutic worldview. The dislike of being the victim of deception (Kottler & Carlson, 2011; Miller, Perlman, & Brehm, 2007) along with negative views of liars (DePaulo & Morris, 2004) may be more pervasive than therapists' worldviews.

### **Exploratory Analyses**

Several exploratory analyses were conducted to examine the post-hoc comparisons, the effect of demographic variables on attitudes toward client deception, and to report other descriptive statistics. Among these analyses, attitude scales were compared to investigate any differences between specific or global attitudes. Then, the relationship between therapists' attitudes and the value and importance of honesty in therapy were explored. This

was followed by an investigation of when therapists perceive clients lie more likely to lie during therapy. Next, the relationship between therapists' counseling experience and attitudes were explored. Lastly, the domains of client deception were explored.

Each attitude scale was compared to explore if a difference existed in the type of attitudes held towards client deception. Scores on the specific attitude scale were compared to scores on the global attitude scale. The specific attitude scale asked participants to indicate how discovering a client's lie might affect things such as "liking the client." The global attitude scale asked participants to make more global attributions about clients who lie compared to clients who do not lie by using opposing adjectives such as "successful."

It is important to note that though therapists held a number of negative attitudes towards client deception, there was a difference between specific and global attitudes. Therapists held more negative attitudes towards the situational aspect of discovering a client's lie compared to global perceptions of attributions of deceptive clients. These findings may be due to not wanting to be on the receiving end of deception (Kottler & Carlson, 2011; Miller, Perlman, & Brehm, 2007). Therapists have a variety of emotional responses in discovering a client's lie (Kottler & Carlson, 2011). Negative attitudes towards clients might be a reaction towards being the victim of deception. Therapists may be less likely to make global attributions towards clients who lie because of unconditional positive regard towards clients (Rogers, 1961). Unconditional positive regard, also termed "positive affective attitude," is valuing the client outside of any behavioral contingencies (Rogers, p. 47).

Another possible explanation is that bad is stronger than good, in that bad events carry more weight and saliency than good events (Baumeister, Bratslavsky, Finkenauer, & Vohs, 2001; Fiske, 1980). Thus, discovering a client's lie in therapy may elicit negative attitudes towards a client due to the saliency of having a bad event directed at a therapist. On the other hand, asking therapists to rate clients who lie compared to those who do not lie in therapy with various adjectives may be more ambiguous and possibly interpreted as affecting others rather than oneself.

Some of the therapists' negative attitudes towards client deception may also come from the value and importance of honesty within therapy. An analysis was conducted to investigate whether a relationship existed between the value of honesty in therapy and the importance of honesty for the therapeutic relationship and outcome. A positive correlation was found between valuing honesty in therapy and the importance for honesty in therapy. Also, valuing honesty in therapy was positively correlated with therapeutic outcome.

The therapeutic relationship consists of contributions from the therapist and client (Orlinsky et al., 2004) and has been reported to be a significant factor in therapeutic outcome (Lambert & Ogles, 2004). Client lies may directly violate the therapeutic relationship and potentially effect therapeutic outcome. Thus, therapists may value honesty and hold negative attitudes towards client deception due to the desire to promote the therapeutic relationship and outcome. The drive to perpetuate the therapeutic relationship and overall positive outcome may inflate the value of client honesty and

negative attitudes towards client deception. Therapists are also inclined to value honesty and may have negative attitudes towards client deception because they typically work collaboratively with clients to establish and maintain the therapeutic alliance (Newman & Strauss, 2003).

Therapists' perceptions about client deception changes within the course of therapy. An analysis was conducted to explore when therapists believed that clients would be more likely to lie during the course of therapy (i.e., early or later). This exploration revealed that participants believed clients lie more in early therapy sessions than in later therapy sessions. The findings related to therapists' thoughts about clients being more likely to lie during early sessions as compared to later sessions is supported by other deception literature. People are less likely to tell lies to those whom they feel more emotionally close (Vrij, 2000). The therapeutic relationship typically develops over the course of therapy, allowing for the therapeutic bond between client and therapist to be strengthened (Derlega, Hendrick, Winstead, & Berg, 1992). In relation to the previous research findings, therapists may believe that clients develop the therapeutic bond over the course of therapy and would be less willing to lie over time.

In exploring demographic variables, counseling experience related to attitudes towards client deception was investigated. The analysis did not reveal a significant relationship between the therapists' attitudes towards client deception and years of counseling experience. The lack of any significant relationship between attitudes and therapists' experience suggested that negative attitudes held by therapists were not

accounted for by the amount of years therapists had been providing therapy. Thus, negative attitudes do not vary with the amount of one's therapy experience. Also, therapists' attitudes did not correlate with their worldviews (i.e., constructivist and positivist). Thus, therapists' attitudes must be rooted in something beyond experience and adopted worldview. These findings may suggest that attitudes towards client deception might be embedded in personal and professional values (Rønnestad & Skovholt, 2003) or stereotypes about liars (Vrij, 2008).

Lastly, an analysis explored therapists' beliefs about the likelihood of clients lying about three different domains: emotions, behaviors, and thoughts. Results revealed that participants believed clients would be more likely to lie about behaviors compared to thoughts and emotions Emotions were believed to be the least likely domain about which clients would lie.

These findings may be the result of therapists' beliefs that many of the client's behaviors occur outside of therapy and may be difficult to validate due to confidentiality concerns (Kottler, 2011) or access to information (Helm, 2011). Within therapy, thoughts and emotions may be more easily accessible to validate. It takes cognitive resources to fabricate false narratives (Vrij, 2008). Therapists may believe that using cognitive resources in therapy may make it more difficult to lie about thoughts. Therapists may also believe that clients are least likely to lie about emotions because of the difficulty in concealing emotions compared to thoughts or behaviors. Emotional responses may be more difficult to conceal and microexpressions may surface (Ekman, 2009).

### Strengths of the Study

Counseling psychology carries a history of an interface with social psychological research (Strong et al., 1992). A bulk of deception literature has focused on its detection (see Vrij, 2008). Yet, there has remained a dearth of literature examining deception in the therapeutic context (Briggs, 1992; Kottler & Carlson, 2011). The present study encourages the interface through exploring deception related to therapy.

In examining therapists' beliefs and attitudes towards deception, the current study recruited therapists representing a range of ages (25 to 69 years), experience (less than I year to 40 years; 25 to 36, 000 direct client contact hours), and theoretical orientations.

Therapists were recruited from various agencies across North America.

Another strength of the current study is evidenced through empirically examining therapists' attitudes towards deception (i.e., TATDS). Some literature has discussed therapists' reactions towards client deception (e.g., Kottler & Carlson, 2011; Newman & Strauss, 2003), though these accounts did not provide empirical data. The current study used an adaptation from a scale used to measure physician's attitudes (Foster et al., 2003) and a self-constructed scale, intended to measure therapists' attitudes in discovering a client's lie.

### Limitations and Future Research Directions

There were some limitations to the current study. The study recruited participants online through a respondent-driven sampling method. This method was employed to reach specialized populations, namely counseling and clinical psychology interns and

psychologists. Rates of the online surveys were unable to be calculated due to not having information related to how many participants received the questionnaires.

Nineteen participants did not complete questionnaires beyond the demographic questionnaire. Due to the nature of the study being conducted online, the researcher could not determine the reasons that the participants chose to not complete the study. A possible explanation might be due to greater frequency of online studies having higher attrition rates (Peytchev, 2009).

Many of the participants who were recruited worked primarily at Veterans Affairs, university counseling centers, and hospitals (n = 80%). Therapists in a private practice setting may place an importance in client deception. Private practice psychologists and therapists may work with clients who are mandated for treatment and must follow legal procedures. Forensic psychologists were also not represented in the study. One potential participant, who worked within a prison, notified the researcher of additional requirements necessary to pass along the current study to other interns and psychologists. Thus, psychologists who have a vested interest in deception and skills in working with client deception were not represented in the current study.

Another limitation of the current study is the lack of external validity. The nature of the current study was investigating beliefs and attitudes of therapists outside of the therapeutic environment. Endorsed beliefs about indicators of deception may not be the actual beliefs utilized or employed when interacting with clients. Beliefs that are not activated may be useless in detecting deception (Forrest et al, 2004). Therapists may not

activate these beliefs when making decisions in therapy when detecting client deception.

It is not known if therapists rely only on the four accurate beliefs they endorsed about indicators of deception and if so, then how often.

It is also unclear if other therapeutic or situational factors contribute to activating particular beliefs. Suspicion has been suggested to be an activator of beliefs about cues to deception (Forrest et al., 2004). People who are suspicious attend more to cues associated with deception (DePaulo, Lassiter, & Stone, 1982). Future research might examine belief activation and belief reliance within the therapeutic situation.

## Implications for Research

The current study contributes to current research literature on deception. The findings that therapists held many inaccurate beliefs about indicators of deception appears to parallel other research (Vrij, 2008). Inaccurate beliefs about indicators of deception are held across other professional groups (Colwell et al., 2006; Hart et al., 2006). Therapists, like other professional groups, do not appear to possess an advantage in holding a higher number of accurate beliefs about indicators of deception. These reasons may also support the notion that similar beliefs about cues to deception are held across professions. Future research could explore what indicators therapists might use within therapy.

The current study also contributes to deception literature through exploring attitudes towards deception. The current research database contains a dearth of literature

examining attitudes towards deception. Some literature has informally addressed attitudes towards being duped as a therapist (Kottler & Carlson, 2011), consequences of deception (DePaulo & Kashy, 1998; Sagarin et al., 1998), and the pleasantness or cooperativeness of liars (DePaulo & Morris, 2004). The current study adds to research in explicitly measuring attitudes towards deception. Further research might implement the attitude scale utilized in the current study (i.e., TATDS) to further examine the dynamics of attitudinal roles within deception and its detection.

Along with measuring attitudes, it may be important to explore the effect therapists' attitudes may have on behavior. Attitude research has suggested that attitudes can be predictive of future behavior (Bentler & Speckart, 1979; Fishbein & Ajzen, 1974). Specifically, therapists' attitudes can affect posttreatment outcome (Sandell et al., 2007). Though the current study found that therapists hold a number of negative attitudes towards clients, there are also some attitudes that did not change. It is not known if therapists rely on their attitudes collectively when counseling or if some attitudes were suppressed. The current research did not examine the direct effects of attitudes on therapeutic variables. Thus, it is unknown if therapists have high attitude-behavior consistency regarding attitudes towards. Future designs might explore the effect of therapists' negative attitudes towards clients on therapist behavioral variables.

# Implications for Training

Therapists do not typically receive formal training as deception detection experts (Stedman, 2006). The emphasis of training therapists is more concerned with training

competent practitioners. However, in receiving training some therapists believe that "We are rarely trained to recognize when we are being deceived" (Helm. 2011, p. 82). The findings from the current study suggest that therapists have not traditionally been exposed to much training in the area of deception. These findings are consistent with previous research which suggested client deception was rarely discussed (Reed, 1996) but often a topic of interest for counselors (Miller, 1992).

Results from the current study suggest implications for training therapists in the area of client deception. The negative attitudes that therapists hold towards clients who lie in conjunction with many inaccurate beliefs about indicators of deception is a sufficient reason to promote training models in dealing with client deception. Clients may be considered liars based on inaccurate beliefs about deception (Global Deception research Team, 2006) and the therapeutic relationship may be affected by therapists' attitudes towards those suspected liars (Newman & Strauss, 2003)

Incorporating formal or informal training within practica may provide a solution to avoiding the pitfalls of inaccurately believing that a client is a liar or holding negative attitudes towards clients who are deemed liars. Vrij (2008) suggested that inaccurate beliefs about cues to deception last because of confirmation biases, belief perseverance, and poor feedback regarding deception. Training may allow therapists to explore their beliefs and attitudes about client deception while receiving feedback. Therapists-intraining may be afforded the opportunity to review literature related to accuracy in

deception detection, beliefs about cues to deception, and relational or attitudinal components of deception.

Beyond reviewing literature and self-awareness, training might address the three reasons that deception in therapy is not typically discussed, as noted previously. These three reasons are fear of incompetence (Kottler & Carlson, 2011), a truth bias towards clients (Kottler & Carlson, 2011; Newman & Strauss, 2003; O'Sullivan, 2003), and the perceived therapist role (Barnett, 2011). Supervisors might normalize the counseling experience for clients by addressing a case in which they were duped. A supervisors' confession may allow therapists to ask questions about client deception and realize that being duped does not equate to incompetence.

Secondly, supervisors and professors might address the myth that all clients are honest. Therapists may be biased towards clients telling truths and overlook client deception (Newman & Strauss, 2003). A belief that clients enter therapy seeking help and that most social interactions reflect more truth than deception may perpetuate the truth bias (Newman & Strauss). Examining biases allows people to dispel myths about deception (Vrij, 2008) and evaluate their own attitudes towards client deception (Stevens, 2011). After evaluating a case of client deception, Stevens reported, "I live my life with an attitude that I would rather be fooled than put too much psychological energy and time from protecting myself from being fooled" (p. 77). As with any bias, it is important for therapists to understand and be aware of their preemptive notions, attitudes, and beliefs. Given that lies are told about 2 times per day (DePaulo & Bell, 1996; DePaulo & Kashy.

1998; Kashy & DePaulo, 1996) in many different situations (DePaulo, 2009) including therapy (Kottler & Carlson, 2010), it may be important to train therapists to expect lying as a normative process within therapy and to understand that there is no real reason for clients to trust therapists no matter how much they perceive their own good intentions.

Thirdly, further examining therapists' roles may enhance training (Barnett, 2011). Delineating the similarities and differences between being an interrogator, professional deception detector, and therapist may aid in training therapists (Newman & Strauss, 2003). Though therapists are not formally trained to be interrogators it does not mean that they do not encounter deception. Helping therapists understand their roles in client deception may advance training and help formulate therapists' identities (Kottler & Carlson, 2011; Newman & Strauss, 2003).

# **Implications for Practice**

Therapists believe that clients lie and hold a number of inaccurate beliefs about actual indicators of deception. If therapists rely on their inaccurate beliefs about cues to deception when determining if clients lie, then their accuracy in detecting deception is impaired (Forrest et al., 2004). The consequences of relying on inaccurate beliefs about client deception may affect case conceptualization (Newman & Strauss, 2003). Implications for practice may also be contingent on other factors such as the importance of detecting deception (Ekman et al., 1999) and the effects of therapists' attitudes (Newman & Strauss). Further implications reinforce the need to incorporate assessments as a part of psychological evaluations (Meehl, 1954).

Case conceptualization is built around information provided by clients and false information may negatively affect that process (Newman & Strauss, 2003). Client deception can affect conceptualization by placing a burden on the therapist to reconcile the client's presenting concern with the client's reported history (Newman & Strauss, 2003). A client may lie about the reason for entering therapy and that false presenting concern may be difficult to understand in the context of the client's reported history.

Therapeutic contexts may vary in the degree of importance for detecting deception. The consequences for relying on inaccurate beliefs about cues to deception may be more severe for situations where the stakes to detect deception are high. The forensic settings usually place a high degree of importance in detecting deception (Christianson & Merckelbach, 2004; Granhag & Strömwall, 2004; Kassin, 2004). Therapists may be more motivated to detect client deception when evaluating a client within these contexts.

Therapists may also place more importance on detecting deception when they serve clientele who are mandated by the judicial system to attend therapy. Usually, clients who have been mandated to treatment have stipulations regarding their behaviors, which they are to avoid behaviors that contribute to their criminality (Ginsburg, Mann, Rotgers, & Weekes, 2002). Therapists are typically required to report any violations of clients' agreements to the courts ("Court-referred clients," 2010). Mandated clients may often enter therapy with a lack of motivation for treatment and may display antisocial

attitudes (Ginsburg et al., 2002). Therefore, therapists may place a higher degree of importance on detecting client deception when working with mandated populations.

Consequences for relying on inaccurate beliefs about cues to deception may also be noteworthy if therapists' negative attitudes towards clients who lie are reflected in their decisions about which clients are liars. Essentially, therapists may hold negative attitudes towards clients who they believe to be liars in therapy. This may affect therapeutic alliance, relationship, and outcome (Lambert & Ogles, 2004; Newman & Strauss, 2003; Orlinsky et al., 2004). The current study revealed a relationship between valuing honesty in therapy with the therapeutic relationship and outcome. Thus, therapists value honesty for therapeutic gains and hold negative attitudes towards clients who lie.

In reconciling inaccurate beliefs about cues to deception and negative attitudes towards client deception, some clinical implications for client deception have been suggested by a few authors (Kottler and Carlson, 2011; Newman & Strauss, 2003). Kottler and Carlson suggested that therapists perpetuate a myth that clients are honest and therapists should accept lying as a part of therapy. This implication contains the crucial idea of acknowledging that deception occurs in therapy; however, it suggests a passive role for therapists. Therapists may benefit from seeking to understand their limitations with deception detection (Bond & DePaulo, 2006), dispelling myths about stereotypical behaviors of liars (Global Deception Research Team, 2006), and actively exploring their attitudes towards client deception (Kottler & Carlson, 2011; Newman & Strauss, 2003).

Kottler and Carlson (2011) also suggested that the client is in charge of discussing lies and therapists are not interrogators. It may be important for a therapist to discuss client deception with clients. At the onset of therapy, therapists might benefit from discussing their limitations with deception detection and sharing their willingness to allow clients to discuss their deceit. The therapist's inclination to discuss these issues is a part of the therapist's bond contribution, which is related to positive outcomes (Orlinksy et al., 2004). It might be advantageous to discuss therapists' roles with clients, addressing preconceived ideas about therapists being interrogators. For therapists, it might be important to note that though they are not trained as interrogators, they still hold beliefs about cues to deception and these beliefs may affect behavior (Newman & Strauss, 2003)

Understanding therapists' roles is equally as important to understanding therapists' limitations. People are generally not good at detecting deception (Bond & DePaulo, 2006) and therapists' clinical judgment alone has been questioned (Meehl, 1954). To remedy this concern, psychologists have incorporated assessments into their practice (Baker & Benjamin, 2000). Some assessments have included deception detection components (Greene, 2000; Groth-Mamat, 2009). Utilizing assessments within psychological evaluations is an integral aspect of clinical judgment and appears to be important for working with client deception.

## Implications for Theory

Impression management has been a theory suggested for understanding deception (DePaulo et al., 2003). Kottler and Carlson (2011) suggested that client deception is often about impression management. The current research may offer additional implications for this theory. Clients deception may be motivated out of a managing an impression within therapy. Clients may create an image of who they want to be or think they should be (Orlinsky et al., 2004). Therapists formulate their impressions of clients early on in therapy (Morrant, 1981). The current findings suggest that therapists think clients are more likely to lie in early sessions compared to later sessions.

The implication from the current research for impression management theory is that it may not account for the actual impressions made if lies are discovered. Clients may be motivated to lie to manage a particular impression (Kottler & Carlson, 2011); however, their impression may be sacrificed if deception is detected. Impressions of clients may be affected even if lies go undetected (Sagarin et al., 1998). Current findings suggest that therapists hold negative attitudes towards clients who lie in therapy. Thus, a discovered lie may negatively affect a client's impression.

Exploring therapists' beliefs and attitudes towards client deception can inform psychotherapy theory. Many psychotherapy theories are rooted in interviewing skills (Ivey & Ivey, 2003). Different theories may view client deception as serving a specific function. Therapists' inaccurate beliefs about cues to deception may inform theoretical approaches of the limitations in deception detection. Understanding client deception in

terms of meaning, as suggested by Kottler and Carlson (2011), and its functioning within therapy may inform psychotherapy theory.

### Conclusions

Deception occurs in everyday life (DePaulo et al., 1996). People are deceptive about a variety of things (Vrij, 2000), deception affects people (Sagarin, 1998), and deception about a transgression is less forgivable (Schweitzer, Hershey, Bradlow, 2006). Deception seems so commonplace within interpersonal relationships that it is not surprising that people also lie in therapy (Kottler & Carlson, 2011). Many day to day lies may not be of a grave consequence to most interpersonal relationships. Lies can be serious (DePaulo et al., 2004) and consequential in relationships (DePaulo & Kashy, 1998), even when they are undetected (Sagarin et al., 1998). So, how do therapists handle lies within the interpersonal context of therapy and what affect does deception have for therapy? There has been a dearth of literature in the area of deception and counseling.

The current study investigated the beliefs and attitudes that therapists hold towards client deception. "Beliefs about liars may be older than recorded history" (Global Deception Research Team, 2006, p. 60). The findings from the current study revealed that therapists hold a number of inaccurate beliefs about what a liar looks like. Some of the beliefs may be embedded in stereotypes of liars. Findings also revealed that therapists hold a number of negative attitudes towards clients who lie.

Future researchers are encouraged to further explore deception within the context of therapy. Specifically, researchers should investigate how therapists' beliefs and

attitudes about deception affect clients, therapeutic process, therapeutic relationship, and outcome. Overall, the study further contributes to the field of counseling psychology by seeking to expand the promise of interface between counseling and social psychology disciplines.

### REFERENCES

- Aesop (1793). The fables of Aesop: With a life of the author and embellished with one hundred and twelve plates [Microform]. London: John Stockdale.
- American Psychiatric Association. (2000). Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (Revised 4th ed.). Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association
- American Psychological Association. (Division 17). (1999). Archival description of counseling psychology. *The Counseling Psychologist*, 27, 589-592. doi: 10.1177/0011000099274006
- American Psychological Association. (2002). Ethical principles of psychologists and code of conduct. American Psychologist, 57, 1060-1073
- American Psychological Association. (2010). 2010 amendments to the 2002 'ethical principles of psychologists and code of conduct'. American Psychologist, 65 doi:10.1037/a0020168
- Akehurst, L., Köhnken, G., Vrij, A., & Bull, R. (1996). Lay persons' and police officers' beliefs regarding deceptive behavior. *Applied Cognitive Psychology*. 10, 461-471. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1099-0720(199612)10:6<461::AID-ACP413>3.0.CO;2-2
- Argyle, M. (1957). Social pressure in public and private situations. *Journal of Abnormal & Social Psychology*, 54, 172-175.

- Asch, S. E. (1955). Opinions and social pressure. Scientific American, 193, 31-35.

  Retrieved from

  http://ezproxy.twu.edu:2055/login.aspx?direct=true&db=psyh&AN=1956-08022-001&site=ehost-live
- Bandura, A., Ross, D., & Ross, S. A. (1961). Transmission of aggression through imitation of aggressive models. *The Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology*, 63, 575-582. doi:10.1037/h0045925
- Barnett, J. E. (2011). Learning from lies at ther therapist's school of hard knocks. In J. Kottler, & J. Carlson (Eds.), Duped: Lies and deception in psychotherapy. (pp. 121-126). New York, NY US: Routledge/Taylor & Francis Group.
- Baumeister, R. F. (1991). Meanings of life. New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Baumeister, R. F., Bratslavsky, E., Finkenauer, C., & Vohs, K. D. (2001). Bad is stronger than good. Review of General Psychology. 5(4), 323-370. doi:10.1037/1089-2680.5.4.323
- Beahrs, J. O., & Gutheil, T. G. (2001). Informed consent in psychotherapy. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 158, 4-10. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.158.1.4
- Bell, K. L., & DePaulo, B. M. (1996). Liking and lying. *Basic and Applied Social Psychology*, 18, 243-266. doi:10.1207/s15324834basp1803\_1
- Benjamin, L. T., Jr. & Baker, D. B. (2004). From séance to science: A history of the profession of psychology in America. Belomont: CA: Wadsworth/Thomson Learning.

- Bentler, P. M., & Speckart, G. (1979). Models of attitude-behavior relations.

  \*Psychological Review, 86, 452-464. doi:10.1037/0033-295X.86.5.452
- Bond, C. F., Jr., & Atoum, A. O. (2000). International deception. Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin, 26, 385-395. doi:10.1177/0146167200265010
- Bond Jr., C. F., & DePaulo, B. M. (2006). Accuracy of deception judgments. *Personality*& Social Psychology Review, 10, 214-234. doi:10.1207/s15327957pspr1003\_2
- Bond, C. F., Omar, A., Mahmoud, A., & Bonser, R. N. (1990). Lie detection across cultures. *Journal of Nonverbal Behavior*, 14, 189-204. doi:10.1007/BF00996226
- Bond, C. F., Omar, A., Pitre, U., Lashley, B. R., Skaggs, L. M., & Kirk, C. T. (1992).
  Fishy-looking liars: Deception judgment from expectancy violation. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 63, 969-977. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.63.6.969
- Brehm, S. S., Kassin, S., & Fein, S. (2005). *Social Psychology* (6<sup>th</sup> ed.). Boston, MA:
  Houghton Mifflin Co.
- Briggs, J. R. (1992). Counselor assessments of honest and deceptive clients. (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from http://ezproxy.twu.edu:2086/login.aspx?direct=true&db=psyh&AN=1994-71439-001&site=chost-live. (1994-71439-001)
- Burgoon, J. K., & Buller, D. B. (1994). Interpersonal deception: III. effects of deceit on perceived communication and nonverbal behavior dynamics. *Journal of Nonverbal Behavior*, 18, 155-184. doi:10.1007/BF02170076

- Burns, G. W. (2011). Cheating at solitaire. In J. Kottler, & J. Carlson (Eds.), Duped: Lies and deception in psychotherapy. (pp. 85-90). New York, NY US:
  Routledge/Taylor & Francis Group.
- Butcher, J. N., Dahlstrom, W. G., Graham, J. R., Tellegen, A, & Kaemmer, B. (2001). The Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory-2 (MMPI-2-revised): Manual for administration and scoring. Minneapolis, MN: University of Minnesota Press.
- Christianson, S. A. & Merckelbach, H. (2004). Crime-related amnesia as a form of deception. In P. Granhag & L. Strömwall (Eds.), The detection of deception in forensic contexts. (pp. 195-225). Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Colwell, L. H., Miller, H. A., Miller, R. S., & Lyons, J., Phillip M. (2006). U.S. police officers' knowledge regarding behaviors indicative of deception: Implications for eradicating erroneous beliefs through training. *Psychology, Crime & Law, 12*, 489-503. doi:10.1080/10683160500254839
- Corsini, R. J., & Wedding, D. (2005). Current psychotherapies (7<sup>th</sup> Ed.). Belmont, CA:

  Brooks/Cole-Thompson Learning
- Court-referred clients: How to grow your private practice by partnering with the court system. (2010). Annals of the American Psychotherapy Association, 13, 10-11.

  Retrieved from 
  http://ezproxy.twu.edu:2058/login.aspx?direct=true&db=psyh&AN=2010-06450-001&site=ehost-live

- Cox, D. L., Stabb, S. D., & Hulgus, J. F. (2000). Anger and depression in girls and boys: A study of gender differences. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, 24, 110-112. doi:10.1111/j.1471-6402.2000.tb01027.x
- Derlega, V. J., Hendrick, S. S., Winstead, B. A., & Berg, J. H. (1992). Psychotherapy as a personal relationship: A social psychological perspective. *Psychotherapy: Theory, Research, Practice, Training, 29*, 331-335. doi:10.1037/h0088534
- DePaulo, B. (2009). Behind the door of deceit: Understanding the biggest liars in our lives. Lexington, KY: CreateSpace
- DePaulo, B. M., Ansfield, M. E., Kirkendol, S. E., & Boden, J. M. (2004). Serious lies.

  \*Basic & Applied Social Psychology, 26, 147-167.

  doi:10.1207/s15324834basp2602&3\_4
- DePaulo, B. M., & Bell, K. L. (1996). Truth and investment: Lies are told to those who care. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 71, 703-716.
- DePaulo, B. M., & Kashy, D. A. (1998). Everyday lies in close and casual relationships. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 74, 63-79. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.74.1.63
- DePaulo, B. M., Kashy, D. A., Kirkendol, S. E., Wyer, M. M., & Epstein, J. A. (1996).
  Lying in everyday life. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 70, 979-995. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.70.5.979

- DePaulo, B. M., Lassiter, G. D., & Stone, J. I. (1982). Attentional determinants of success at detecting deception and truth. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 8, 273-279, doi:10.1177/0146167282082014
- DePaulo, B. M., Lindsay, J. J., Malone, B. E., Muhlenbruck, L., Charlton, K., & Cooper, H. (2003). Cues to deception. *Psychological Bulletin*, 129, 74-118. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.129.1.74
- DePaulo, B. M., & Morris, W. L. (2004). Discerning lies from truths: Behavioural cues to deception and the indirect pathway of intuition In P. Granhag & L. Strömwall (Eds.), *The detection of deception in forensic contexts*. (pp. 15-40). Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- DePaulo, B. M., & Pfeifer, R. L. (1986). On-the-job experience and skill at detecting deception. *Journal of Applied* and *Social Psychology*, 16, 249-267.
- Deutsch, M., & Gerard, H. B. (1955). A study of normative and informational social influences upon individual judgment. *Journal of Abnormal & Social Psychology*, 51, 629-636.
- Eagly, A. H., & Carli, L. L. (1981). Sex of researchers and sex-typed communications as determinants of sex differences in influenceability: A meta-analysis of social influence studies. *Psychological Bulletin*, 90, 1-20.

- Eleman, P. (1996). Why don't we catch liars? Social Research, 63, 801-817. Retrieved from http://ezproxy.twu.edu:2054/login.aspx?direct=true&db=a9h&AN=9701276370& site=ehost-live
- Eleman, P. (2009). Telling lies: Clues to deceit in the marketplace, politics, and marriage.
  New York, NY: W. W. Norton & Company Inc.
- Eleman, P., & O'Sullivan, M. (1991). Who can catch a liar? American Psychologist, 46, 913-920. doi:10.1037/0003-066X.46.9.913
- Eleman, P., O'Sullivan, M., & Frank, M. G. (1999). A few can catch a liar. Psychological Science, 10, 263-266. doi:10.1111/1467-9280.00147
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Buchner, A., & Lang, A.-G. (2009). Statistical power analyses using G\*Power 3.1: Tests for correlation and regression analyses. *Behavior Research Methods*, 41, 1149-1160.
- Felson, R. B., & Pare, P. (2008). Gender and the victim's experience with the criminal justice system. Social Science Research, 37, 202-219. doi:10.1016/i.ssresearch.2007.06.014
- Fishbein, M., & Ajzen, I. (1974). Attitudes towards objects as predictors of single and multiple behavioral criteria. *Psychological Review*, 81, 59-74. doi:10.1037/h0035872

- Fiske, S. T. (1980). Attention and weight in person perception: The impact of negative and extreme behavior. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 38, 889-906. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.38.6.889
- Forrest, J. A., Feldman, R. S., & Tyler, J. M. (2004). When accurate beliefs lead to better lie detection. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 34, 764-780. doi:10.1111/j.1559-1816.2004.tb02569.x
- Foster, G. D., Wadden, T. A., Makris, A. P., Davidson, D., Sanderson, R. S., Allison, D. B., & Kessler, A. (2003). Primary care physicians' attitudes about obesity and its treatment. *Obesity Research*, 11(10), 1168-1177. Retrieved from http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=cmedm&AN=14569041 &site=ehost-live
- Ginsburg, J. I. D., Mann, R. E., Rotgers, F., & Weekes, J. R. (2002). Motivational interviewing with criminal justice populations. In W. R. Miller & S. Rollnick (Eds.), *Motivational interviewing (2<sup>nd</sup> ed.)*. (pp. 333-346). New York, NY: The Guilford Press.
- Global Deception Research Team. (2006). A world of lies. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 37, 60–74. doi:10.1177/0022022105282295
- Granhag, P. A. & Strömwall, L. A., (2004). Research on deception detection: Past and present. In P. Granhag & L. Strömwall (Eds.), The detection of deception in forensic contexts. (pp. 3-12). Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.

- Graves, R. (1955). The Greek myths. In D.A. Leeming (1st Ed.), *The World of Myth* (p.163-165). New York, NY: Oxford Press University.
- Greene, R. L. (2000). The MMPI-2: An interpretive manual (2<sup>nd</sup> Ed.). Needham Heights, MA: Allyn & Bacon.
- Groth-Marnat, G. (2009). Handbook of psychological assessment (5<sup>th</sup> Ed.). Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons, Inc..
- Grzegorek, J. L. (2011). Smoke and mirrors. In J. Kottler, & J. Carlson (Eds.), *Duped:*Lies and deception in psychotherapy. (pp. 33-37). New York, NY US:

  Routledge/Taylor & Francis Group.
- Guenther, C. C., & Otto, R. K. (2010). Identifying persons feigning limitations in their competence to proceed in the legal process. *Behavioral Sciences & the Law, 28*, 603-613. Retrieved from http://ezproxy.twu.edu:2055/login.aspx?direct=true&db=psyh&AN=2010-23176-003&site=ehost-live
- Hall, C. I. (1997). Cultural malpractice: The growing obsolesce of psychology with the changing U.S. population. American Psychologist, 52, 642-651.
- Hart, C. L., Fillmore, D. G., & Griffith, J. D. (2009). Indirect detection of deception: Looking for change. Current Research in Social Psychology, 14. Retrieved from http://ezproxy.twu.edu:2067/login.aspx?direct=true&db=psyh&AN=2009-19560-001&site=ehost-live

- Hart, C. L., Fillmore, D. G., & Griffith, J. D. (2010). Deceptive communication in the workplace: An examination of beliefs about verbal and paraverbal cues. (2010). *Individual Differences Research*. 8, 176-183.
- Hart, C. L., Hudson, L. P., Fillmore, D. G., & Griffith, J. D. (2006). Managerial beliefs about the behavioral cues of deception. *Individual Differences Research*, 4, 176-184.
- Hartwig, M., & Bond, C. F. J. (2011). Why do lie-catchers fail? A lens model metaanalysis of human lie judgments. *Psychological Bulletin*, 137, 643-659. doi:10.1037/a0023589
- Helm, K.. (2011). Grateful for the lessons learned. In J. Kottler, & J. Carlson (Eds.),
  Duped: Lies and deception in psychotherapy. (pp. 79-83). New York, NY US:
  Routledge/Taylor & Francis Group.
- Heppner, P. P., Wampold, B. E., & Kivlighan, D. M. (2008). Research design in counseling (3<sup>rd</sup> ed.). Belmont, CA: Brooks/Cole-Thomson.
- Ivey, A., & Ivey, M. (2003). Intentional interviewing and counseling: facilitating client development in a multicultural society (5<sup>th</sup> ed.). Pacific Grove, CA: Brooks/Cole.
- Kashy, D. A., & DePaulo, B. M. (1996). Who lies? *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 70, 1037-1051. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.70.5.1037
- Kassin, S. (2004). True or false: 'I'd know a false confession if I saw one'. In P. Granhag & L. Strömwall (Eds.), The detection of deception in forensic contexts. (pp. 172-194). Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.

- Kazdin, A. E. (2004). Psychotherapy for children and adolescents. In A. E. Bergin & S. L. Garfield (Eds.), Handbook of psychotherapy and behavior change (5th ed.).
  (pp. 543-589). Oxford England: John Wiley & Sons.
- Kottler, J. (2011). How well do we really know our clients? In J. Kottler, & J. Carlson (Eds.), Duped: Lies and deception in psychotherapy. (pp. 9-14). New York, NY US: Routledge/Taylor & Francis Group.
- Kottler, J., & Carlson, J. (2011). Duped: Lies and deception in psychotherapy. New York, NY US: Routledge/Taylor & Francis Group.
- Krupnick, J. L., & Pincus, H. A. (1992). The cost-effectiveness of psychotherapy: A plan for research. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 149, 1295-1305. Retrieved from http://ezproxy.twu.edu:2055/login.aspx?direct=true&db=psyh&AN=1993-10496-001&site=ehost-live
- Lambert, M. J., & Ogles, B. M. (2004). The efficacy and effectiveness of psychotherapy.
  In A. E. Bergin & S. L. Garfield (Eds.), Handbook of psychotherapy and behavior change (5th ed.). (pp. 139-193). Oxford England: John Wiley & Sons.
- Langer, R. (2010). When the patient does not tell the truth. *Psychoanalytic Social Work*, 17, 1-16.
- Leeming, D. A. (1990). *The World of Myth* (1<sup>st</sup> Ed.). New York, NY: Oxford Press University.
- Lie to Me. (n.d.). Retrieved November 26, 2010, from Fox Broadcasting Company website, http://www.fox.com/lietome/about/

- Locke, B., Keiser-Clark, D. (2012). PsychData (Version 1) [Software]. Available from https://www.psychdata.com/
- McAuliffe, G. (2008). What is culturally alert counseling? In G. McAuliffe & Associates.

  Culturally alert counseling: A comprehensive introduction (1st ed.). (p. 2-44).

  Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Meehl, P. E. (1954). Clinical versus statistical prediction: A theoretical analysis and a review of the evidence. Minneapolis, MN US: University of Minnesota Press. doi:10.1037/11281-000
- Miller, M. J. (1992). The Pinocchio syndrome: Lying and its impact on the counseling process. *Counseling and Values*, 37, 25-31. Retrieved from http://ezproxy.twu.edu:2058/login.aspx?direct=true&db=psyh&AN=1993-14510-001&site=ehost-live
- Miller, R. S., Perlman, D., & Brehm, S. S. (2007). Intimate relationships (4<sup>th</sup> Ed.). New York, NY: The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc.
- Millon, T., Davis, R., Millon, C., & Grossman, S. (2009). Millon Clinical Multiaxial Inventory-III manual (3rd ed.). Minneapolis, MN: National Computer Systems.
- Mitchell, R. W., & Singer, B. (Producer), (2004). Everybody lies [DVD]. Available from http://www.housedvd.com/

Möllering, G. (2009). Leaps and lapses of faith: Exploring the relationship between trust and deception. In B. Harrington, & B. Harrington (Eds.), Deception: From ancient empires to internet dating. (pp. 137-153) Stanford University Press.
Retrieved from
http://ezproxy.twu.edu:2055/login.aspx?direct=true&db=psyh&AN=2009-08879-

008&site=ehost-live

- Morrant, J. C. (1981). The first few minutes. The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry / La

  Revue Canadienne De Psychiatrie, 26, 432-434. Retrieved from

  http://ezproxy.twu.edu:2071/login.aspx?direct=true&db=psyh&AN=1982-12587
  001&site=ehost-live
- Newman, C. F., & Strauss, J. L. (2003). When clients are untruthful: Implications for the therapeutic alliance, case conceptualization, and intervention. *Journal of Cognitive Psychotherapy*, 17, 241-252. doi:10.1891/jcop.17.3.241.52534
- Norcross, J. C., & Lambert, M. J. (2011). Psychotherapy relationships that work II.
  Psychotherapy: Theory, Research, Practice, and Training, 48, 4-8.
  doi:10.1037/a0022180
- Orlinsky, D. E., Ronnestad, M. H., & Willutzki, U. (2004). Fifty years of psychotherapy process-outcome research: Continuity and change. In A. E. Bergin & S. L. Garfield (Eds.), *Handbook of psychotherapy and behavior change (5th ed.)*. (pp. 307-389). Oxford England: John Wiley & Sons

- O'Sullivan, M. (2003). The fundamental attribution error in detecting deception: The boywho-cried-wolf effect. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*. 29, 1316-1327. doi:10.1177/0146167203254610
- Peytchev, A. (2009). Survey breakoff. Public Opinion Quarterly, 73, 74-97. Retrieved from 
  http://ezproxy.twu.edu:2071/login.aspx?direct=true&db=poh&AN=38121249&sit
- Pope, K. S., Vasquez, M. J. T. (2007). Ethics in psychotherapy and counseling: A practical guide (3<sup>rd</sup> Ed.). San Francisco, CA: John Wiley & sons, Inc.

e=ehost-live

- Prochaska, J. O., & Norcross, J. C. (2010). Systems of psychotherapy: A transtheoretical analysis (7th Ed.). Belmont, CA: Brooks/Cole.
- Reed, A. (1996). Economies with 'the truth': Professional's narratives about lying and deception in mental health practice. *Journal of Psychiatric and Mental Health Nursing*, 3, 249–256.
- Reinhard, M., Dickhäuser, O., Marksteiner, T., & Sporer, S. L. (2011). The case of Pinocchio: Teachers' ability to detect deception. Social Psychology of Education, 14, 299-318. doi:10.1007/s11218-010-9148-5
- Robinson, W. P., Shepherd, A., & Heywood, J. (1998). Truth, equivocation/concealment. and lies in job applications and doctor-patient communication. *Journal of Language and Social Psychology*, 17, 149-164. doi:10.1177/0261927X980172001

- Rochlan, A. B. (2011). What clients talk about and what they don't. In J. Kottler, & J. Carlson (Eds.), *Duped: Lies and deception in psychotherapy.* (pp. 91-96). New York, NY US: Routledge/Taylor & Francis Group.
- Rogers, C. R. (1961). On becoming a person. Boston, MA: Houghton Mifflin Company.
- Rønnestad, M. H., & Skovholt, T. M. (2003). The journey of the counselor and therapist:

  Research findings and perspectives on professional development. *Journal of*Career Development, 30, 5-44. doi:10.1023/A:1025173508081
- Rosenhan, D. L. (1973). On being sane in insane places. *Science*, 179, 250-258. doi:10.1126/science.179.4070.250
- Rowatt, W. C., Cunningham, M. R., & Druen, P. B. (1998). Deception to get a date.

  \*Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin, 24, 1228-1242.

  doi:10.1177/01461672982411009
- Rowatt, W. C., Cunningham, M. R., & Druen, P. B. (1999). Lying to get a date: The effect of facial physical attractiveness on the willingness to deceive prospective dating partners. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 16, 209-223. doi:10.1177/0265407599162005
- Sack, S., Radler, D. R., Mairella, K. K., Tougher-Decker, R., & Khan, H. (2009).
  Physical therapists' attitudes, knowledge, and practice approaches regarding people who are obese. *Physical Therapy*, 89, 804-815.

- Sagarin, B. J., Rhoads, K. V. L., & Cialdini, R. B. (1998). Deceiver's distrust:
  Denigration as a consequence of undiscovered deception. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 24, 1167-1176. doi:10.1177/01461672982411004
- Sandell, R., Lazar, A., Grant, J., Carlsson, J., Schubert, J., & Broberg, J. (2007).
  Therapist attitudes and patient outcomes: II. Therapist attitudes influence change during treatment. *Psychotherapy Research*, 17, 196-204.
  doi:10.1080/10503300600608439
- Schweitzer, M. E., Hershey, J. C., & Bradlow, E. T. (2006). Promises and lies: Restoring violated trust. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 101, 1-19. doi:10.1016/j.obhdp.2006.05.005
- Sitton, S. C., & Griffin, S. T. (1981). Detection of deception from clients' eye contact patterns. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 28, 269-271. doi:10.1037/0022-0167.28.3.269
- Skinner, B. F. (1938). The behavior of organisms: An experimental analysis. New York, NY: D. Appleton-Century Company, incorporated.
- Sodian, B. (1991). The development of deception in young children. British Journal of Developmental Psychology, 9, 173-188. doi:10.1111/j.2044-835X.1991.tb00869.x
- Sporer, S. L., & Schwandt, B. (2006). Paraverbal indicators of deception: A metaanalytic synthesis. Applied Cognitive Psychology, 20, 421-446. doi:10.1002/acp.1190

- Stedman, J. M. (2006). What we know about predoctoral internship training: A review.
  Training and Education in Professional Psychology, S(2), 80-95.
  doi:10.1037/1931-3918.S.2.80
- Stevens, M. (2011). The dance of optimism and skepticism. In J. Kottler, & J. Carlson (Eds.), Duped: Lies and deception in psychotherapy. (pp. 73-78). New York, NY US: Routledge/Taylor & Francis Group.
- Strong, S. R., Welsh, J. A., Corcoran, J. L., & Hoyt, W. T. (1992). Social psychology and counseling psychology: The history, products, and promise of an interface. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 39, 139-157. doi:10.1037/0022-0167.39.2.139
- Vrij, A. (2000). Detecting lies and deceit: The psychology of lying and the implications for professional practice. West, Sussex, England: John Wiley & Sons Ltd.
- Vrij, A. (2008). Detecting lies and deceit: Pitfalls and opportunities Q<sup>nd</sup> Ed.). West, Sussex, England: John Wiley & Sons Ltd.
- Vrij, A., Granhag, P. A., & Mann, S. (2010). Good lairs. The Journal of Psychiatry and Law, 38, 77-898.
- Yalom, I. D. (2002). The gift of therapy. New York, NY: HarperCollins Publishers.

# APPENDIX A

Demographic Questionnaire

Age:
Sex:MaleFemaleIntersex
Gender:WomanManTransgender
Race/Ethnicity:
1) African American/Black
2) Caucasian/European American
3) Asian/Asian American/Pacific Islander
4) Native American/Alaskan Native
5) Hispanic/Latina/Latino
6) Bi Racial
7) Multi racial
8) Other:
Education:
4 year college degree
Master`s degree
Psy.D.
Ph.D.
Training Program:
Clinical
Counseling
License:
Licensed Marriage and Family Therapist

Licensed Chemical Dependency Counselor
Licensed Professional Counselor
Licensed Psychologist
Current Therapy Work Setting: Counseling Center
Hospital
Veterans Affairs
Military
Private Practice
Other:
Theoretical Orientation (Please select only 1):
Cognitive
Behavioral
Emotion Focused
Humanistic/Existential/Experiential
Psychodynamic/Interpersonal
Solution-Focused
Narrative
Family/Systems
Feminist/Multicultural
Integrationist/Eclectic

Worldview:									
Constructivist: Defined as "emphasizing the client's unique, subjective perspective or self-constructed narrative as contrasted with objective or consensual reality" (Prochaska & Norcross, 2010, p. 433).									
7	1 Jot at all	2	3	4	5	6	7 Very Much		
Positivist: Defined as "the nature of the universe can be known, and the scientist's goal is discover each and every object in the universe, and their relationship to each other" (Heppner, Wampold, & Kivlighan, 2008, p. 7-8).									
N	1 Jot at all	2	3	4	5	6	7 Very Much		
Training:									
How much literature have you read on deception (books or articles)?									
N	1 lone	2	3	4	5	6	7 Very Much		
How much training have you had with client deception?									
N	1 one	2	3	4	5	6	7 Very Much		
How much training have you had with deception detection?									
	1 one	2	3	4	5	6	7 Very Much		
				,	1	30			

\_\_\_ Other: \_\_\_\_

How many years of counseling experience?	
How many direct contact hours?	

### APPENDIX B

Detection of Deception Questionnaire

For the			stions, c	ircle the	number t	hat mos	t closel <u>y</u> corres <u>p</u>	onds with
1. I	łow co	nfident	are you	that you	can dete	ct when	clients are lying	to you?
1	2	2 3	3 4	5	6	7		

1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Not ve	-					Extremely
confid	lent					confident

### 2. How often do you think clients lie to you?

1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Very						Very
rarely						often

Please indicate whether the following hehaviors increase or decrease when people lie to you.

### 3. Eye contact:

1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Decreases			Does n		Increases	
a lot			change			a lot
4. Eye	blinks:					

# 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 Decrease a lot Do not change Increase a lot

### 5. Head movements:

1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Decrea	ise		Do no	ot		Increase
a lot			chang	e		a lot

### 6. Smiles:

1 2 3 4 5 6 7
Decrease Do not Increase
a lot change a lot

### 7. Hand and finger movements:

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7

 Decrease a lot
 Do not change
 Increase a lot

### 8. Arm movements:

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7

 Decrease a lot
 Do not change
 Increase a lot

### 9. Leg and foot movements:

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

Decrease Do not Increase
a lot change a lot

#### 10. Postural shifts:

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7

 Decrease a lot
 Do not change
 Increase a lot

### 11. Shrugs:

1 2 3 4 5 6 7
Decrease Do not Increase a lot change a lot

12.	Gestures

1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Decrea	ise		Do no	ot		Increase
a lot			chang	e		a lot

### 13. The number of speech interruptions such as "uh" and "um":

1	2	3	4	5	6	7
<b>Decrea</b>	se		Do not	t		Increas
alot			change	2		a lot

### 14. The number of pauses or hesitations in speech:

1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Decrea	ise		Do no	t		Increase
a lot			change	е		a lot

### 15. The amount of time before beginning to respond to a question:

1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Decrea	ises		Does no	ot		Increases
a lot			chang	e		a lot

### 16. Hectic speech patterns:

1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Decrea	se		Do no	ot		Increase
a lot			chang	e		a lot

### 17. Changes in the pitch of voice:

1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Decrease		Do not				Increase
a lot		change				a lot

18.	The	length	of	answers:
-----	-----	--------	----	----------

1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Decrea	se		Do no	t		Increase
a lot			chang	е		a lot

# 19. The use of short, simple sentences in stories and explanations:

1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
Decreases			Does n	ot	Increases		
a lot			chang		a lot		

# 20. The use of plausible descriptions in stories and explanations:

1	2	3	4	5	6	7		
Decreases			Does not			Increases		
a lot	change		ge		a lot			

# 21. Logically consistent stories and explanations:

1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Decreas	se		Do no	ot		Increase
a lot			chang	e		a lot

# 22. The amount of detailed descriptions in stories and explanations:

1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Decrea	ises		Does n	ot		Increases
a lot		change			a lot	

# 23. Unusual details in descriptions:

1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Decrea	se	,	Do no	ot		Increase
a lot			chang	e		a lot

24.	Unnecessary	details	in	descriptions	
47.	Chilecosal y	uctans		исэстірцоца	

1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Decrea	ise		Do no	t		Increase
a lot			change			a lot

### 25. Descriptions of their own feelings or the feeling of others:

1	2	3	4	5	6	7
<b>Decrea</b>	se		Do not			Increase
a lot			change			a lot

### 26. Recounting exactly what somebody had said in stories and explanations:

1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Decreases		Does not				Increases
a lot			chang	e		a lot

# 27. Descriptions of interactions with others in stories and explanations:

1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Decrea	se		Do no	t		Increase
a lot			change	2		a lot

# 28. Spontaneous corrections in stories and explanations:

1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Decrea	ise		Do not			Increase
a lot			change	:		a lot

# 29. Claiming a lack of memory for certain events or information:

1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Decrea	ises	-	Does n	ot		Increases
a lot			chang	e		a lot

### 30. Stories with contradictions:

 1
 2
 3
 4
 5
 6
 7

 Decrease a lot
 Do not change
 Increase a lot

# APPENDIX C

Therapist Attitudes Towards Deception Scale

# If you discovered that a client was lying to you, how would that affect:

1. Liking the client?

_	1 ificantly crease	2	3	4	5 No Change	6	7	8	9 Significantly Increase
2.	Being	angry a	t the cli	ent?					
	1 ificantly crease	2	3	4	5 No Change	6	7	8	9 Significantly Increase
3.	Seeing	the clie	ent as a	bad p	erson?				
	1 ificantly crease	2	3	4	5 No Change	6	7	8	9 Significantly Increase
4.	Thinki	ng nega	tively a	bout	the client	?			
_	l ificantly crease	2	3	4	5 No Change	6	7	8	9 Significantly Increase
5.	Judgin	g the cl	ent har	shly?					
	l ificantly crease	2	3	4	5 No Change	6	7	8	9 Significantly Increase
6.	Desire	to inter	act with	the o	client?				
_	l ificantly crease	2	3	4	5 No Change	6	7	8	9 Significantly Increase
7.	Enthus	iasm to	work w	ith th	ne client?				
-	1 ificantly crease	2	3	4	5 No Change	6 40	7	8	9 Significantly Increase

8.	Judging	the client	as a	good	client?
O.	Judging	the chefit	us u	good	CHICHT:

Significantly Decrease	2	3	4	5 No Change	6	7	8	9 Significantly Increase
9. Speak	ing p	oorly of	the cli	ent with	others?	)		
1 Significantly Decrease	2	3	4	5 No Change	6	7	8	9 Significantly Increase
10. Trusti	ng the	e client?						
1 Significantly Decrease	, 2	3	4	5 No Change	6	7	8	9 Significantly Increase
11. Think	ing po	sitively	about	the client	?			
1 Significantly Decrease	2	3	4	5 No Change	6	7	8	9 Significantly Increase
12. Viewin	ng the	client a	s since	ere?				
1 Significantly Decrease	2	3	4	5 No Change	6	7	8	9 Significantly Increase

# 13-24. Clients who lie in therapy compared clients who do not lie in therapy are:

1 Not very Successful	2	3	4	5	6	7 Very Successful
1 Not very	2	3	4	5	6	7 Very Pathological

l Not very Weak	2	3	4	5	6	7 Very Weak
1 Not very Compliant	2	3	4	5	6	7 Very Compliant
1 Not very Predictable	2	3	4	5	6	7 Very Predictable
1 Not very Pleasant	2	3	4	5	6	7 Very Pleasant
1 Not very Lazy	2	3	4	5	6	7 Very Lazy
l Not very Awkward	2	3	4	5	6	7 Very Awkward
1 Not very Knowledgeabl	2 e	3	4	5	6	7 Very Knowledgeable
1 Not very Intelligent	2	3	4	5	6	7 Very Intelligent
l Not very Likeable	2	3	4	5	6	7 Very Likeable
l Not very Adjusted	2	3	4	5	6	7 Very Adjusted

25. Ho	1	rassed w	ould you	ou be if	you dis	scove:	red a client's lie? 7
	Not at all						Very Much
26. Ho							ient's lie?
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
	Not at all						Very Much
27. Ho	w surprise	ed woul	d you b	e if you	ı discov	ered	a client's lie?
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
	Not at all						Very Much
28. Hov	v suspicio	ous are	you tha	t clients	are lyi	ng?	
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
	Not at						Very Much
	all						
29. Hov	v importa	nt is de	tecting	client's	lies (tr	uth)?	
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
	Not at						Very Much
	all						
30. How	often do	you th	ink clie	nts lie i	n early	thera	by sessions?
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
	Not at						Very Much
	all						
31. How	often do	you thi	nk clie	nts lie i	n later t	herap	y sessions?
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
	Not at all						Very Much
32. How	often do	you thi	nk you	clients	lie wit	hin a	session?
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
	Not at						Very Much
	all						
33. How	much do	you va	lue hon	esty in	therapy	?	
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
	Not at						Very Much

all

34. Hov	v importa 1 Not at all	nt is cli 2	ent hone 3	esty for 4	the the	rapeut 6	cic relationship? 7 Very Important
35. How	v importai 1 Not at all	nt is cli	ent hone 3	esty for 4	success 5	sful ou 6	atcome? 7 Very Important
36. How	likely ar 1 Not at all	e you to 2	explic 3	itly ask 4	a client 5	t if s/h 6	e is lying? 7 Very Likely
						-	rom a non-verbal discrepancy verbal content)? 7 Very Likely
38. How	likely wo l Not at all	ould a t	ypical c 3	lient lie 4	about 6	emotio 6	ons? 7 Very Likely
39. How	likely wo 1 Not at all	ould a ty 2	ypical c	lient lie 4	about t	though 6	nts? 7 Very Likely
40. How	likely wo 1 Not at all	ould a ty 2	ypical c	lient lie 4	about b	oehavi 6	ors? 7 Very Likely
41. ln ca	tching a c l Not at all	lient's	lie, how 3	likely 4	would y 5	ou be	to terminate? 7 Very Likely
42. In cat	tching a c l Not at All	lient's l 2	ie, how 3	4	would y 5 44	ou be	to refer? 7 Very Likely

43. Hov	v likely ar	e you to	o discus	s a susp	ected li	e wit	h your client?
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
	Not at						Very Likely
	all						,,
44. How	often do	you lie	in ther	apy?			
		2			5	6	7
	Never						Very Often
							,
45. How	often do	vou lie	to clier	nts in the	erany?		
				4		6	7
	Never	_					Very Often
							very onen
46 How	often do	you int	entiona	lly keen	inform	ation	from clients in therapy?
	1	2				6	7
	Never	2	5	-	5	O	Very Often
	INCVCI						very Often
47 Ham	- A 1-	!		II. Loom	i 60	ation	from alianta in the control of
			entiona	пу кеер	inform	ation	from clients in therapy if it
prote	ects them?			20	-	10	_
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
	Never						Very Often
48. What	percenta	ge of cl	ients or	your ca	ase load	are 1	iars?

APPENDIX D

Email Request

Greetings Dr. XX,

I would greatly appreciate any assistance with my dissertation by forwarding this email to current interns and/or staff.

You are being asked to participate in a research study for Mr. Curtis's dissertation (TWU-lRB #16897) at Texas Woman's University. The purpose of the current study is to assess therapists' beliefs and attitudes towards deception. This research is intended to provide clarity about the therapists' beliefs regarding deception and their attitudes towards clients who lie. You are only permitted to participate once in the current study. Eligibility requirements for participants will include: (a) at least 18 years old, (b) must have completed at least one practicum course, and (c) are currently or have completed training in a counseling or clinical psychology program.

The link to the study:

https://www.psychdata.com/s.asp?S1D=146480

Sincerely, Drew Curtis

Drew Curtis, M.A. SWPA Graduate Student Representative Counseling Psychology Doctoral Candidate Texas Woman's University

### APPENDIX E

Informed Consent

Title: THERAPISTS' BELIEFS AND ATTITUDES TOWARDS CLIENT DECEPTION

Investigator: Drew A. Curtis, M.A. ......940-898-2303

#### Purpose of the Study

You are being asked to participate in a research study for Mr. Curtis's dissertation at Texas Woman's University. The purpose of the current study is to assess therapists' beliefs and attitudes towards deception. This research is intended to provide clarity about the therapists' beliefs regarding deception and their attitudes towards clients who lie. You are only permitted to participate once in the current study. Eligibility requirements for participants will include: (a) at least 18 years old, (b) must have completed at least one practicum course, and (c) are currently or have completed training in a counseling or clinical psychology program.

### Description of Procedures

The study consists of participants completing, online, a packet of questionnaires regarding therapists' beliefs and attitudes towards deception. Participants will be asked to initially respond to a demographic section and then will be asked to complete the beliefs and attitudes toward deception section. The beliefs and attitudes questionnaires will consist of 50 items. Completing the study will take approximately 20 to 30 minutes.

### Participation and Benefits

Your involvement in this research study is completely voluntary, and you may discontinue your participation in this study at any time without penalty. The only direct benefits of this study to you are that you are helping a graduate student collect data for his dissertation and are welcome to inquire about the results of the study. The researchers will benefit from this study by learning more about therapists' beliefs and attitudes towards deception. If you wish to receive information about the results of this study, please request that information by email from the researcher listed at the top of this form.

### Potential Risks

The following are risks related to your participation in this study and steps that the researcher will take to minimize those risks:

There is a risk of loss confidentiality. You will not use your name or any other identifying information. You may risk a loss of confidentiality if you choose to email the researcher to ask for results of the study. If you choose to email the researcher, then the researcher will

immediately delete such emails after responding to them. Confidentiality will be protected to the extent that is allowed by law. There is a potential risk of loss of confidentiality in all email, downloading, and internet transactions.

There is a risk of loss of time. You will lose up to 30 minutes of your time by participating in this study.

There is a risk of coercion. Your participation is completely voluntary, and you may terminate your participation in this study at any time without penalty.

There is a risk of fatigue and/or emotional discomfort. Participants may take a break or discontinue their participation in the study without any negative consequences. If you do feel distressed or experience emotional discomfort, please use the following information to seek support:

Online referrals for counseling services in your area: American Psychological Association Psychologist Locator Service http://locator.apa.org/

There is a risk of loss of anonymity. You will complete the questionnaire packet online. There may or may not be other people in this room. If other people in the room recognize you, you will lose your anonymity. If this causes you emotional discomfort, you may terminate your participation or seek counseling from the above noted counseling service providers.

The researchers will try to prevent any problems that could happen because of this research. You should let the researchers know at once if there is a problem and they will help you. However, TWU does not provide medical services or financial assistance for injuries that might happen because you are taking part in this research.

### Questions Regarding the Study

If you have any questions about the study, please contact the researchers; their phone numbers are at the top of this form. If you have questions about your rights as a participant in the research or regarding how the study was conducted, feel free to contact the Texas Woman's University Office of Research and Sponsored Programs at 940-898-3378 or via email at IRB@twu.edu.

I have read the foregoing information, or it has been read to me. I have had the opportunity to ask questions about it and any questions that I have asked have been answered to my satisfaction. I consent voluntarily to participate as a participant in this study and understand that I have the right to withdraw from the study at any

time without in any way affecting my person or experimental credit. I hereby consent to participate in the study.

By clicking the option "I agree", you will be consenting to participate in the study.